STATE OF ILLINOIS ) IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE

) SS
COUNTY OF MCLEAN ) ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
THE PEOPLE OF THE ) § 5 L E "
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) % i

) \

VS. ) NO. 98 CF 633 g DEC 2 8 1998

) ‘ o

BARTON MCNEIL) CIRGUIT CLERK

NOTICE

TO:  Barton McNeil, c/o McLean County Jail, 104 W. Front St., Bloomington, IL 61701
Tracy Smith, Public Defender's Office, 104 W. Front St., Bloomington, IL 61701

YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that you have been charged in the Circuit Court of McLean
County in the above-entitled cause with the offense(s) of first degree murder (2 counts). The Court has
ordered that you be given notice that the matter is set for motion hearing at 2:30 PM on January 7,
1999, in Judge Prall‘s Courtroom on the 5th floor of the McLean County Law and Justice Center, 104
West Front Street, Bloomington, Illinois, at which time and place you must be present.

Date at Bloomington, Illinois, this 22nd day of December 1998.
U JZZQLQ

(A1§31stant State’s Attorney

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
Tanya Murphy, being first duly sworn on oath, says that she served the foregoing Notice in the above-
entitled cause by:

Depositing a true and correct copy of the same in the U.S. Post Office or post office box in the
City of Bloomington, Illinois, enclosed in an envelope, with postage fully prepaid to same as above,
plainly addressed as indicated in the above notice on,

= gel}nd delivering a true and correct copy of the same on the addresses listed above on,
the Ziig-,;ay of December 1998.

N WM//W/??’/WA,(/
Subscribed and sworn to before me this QZjﬁ day of ‘ , 19 f

NOTARY PUBLIC / &
S

"OFFICIAaL SEAL"

VIRGINIA BICKNELL
NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF ILL
MY COMMISSIGN EXPIRES 6/8/99
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NO. 98 CF 633
VS.

BARTON MCNEIL

MEMORANDUM OF LAW CONCERNING ADMISSIBILITY
OF EVIDENCE WHICH SUGGESTS GUILT OF ANOTHER

Now come THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, by Charles G. Reynard, through Assistant State’s
Attorney Stephanie M. Wong, and file this memorandum of law in support of its Motion in Limine.

FACTS:

On June 16, 1998 at 7:40 a.m. the defendant reported the victim, his 3 year old daughter Christina McNeil, to be
deceased. The defendant recounts the events preceding the victim’s death as follows:

On June 15, 1998 at approximately 7:00 p.m. the defendant picked up Christina from Tita McNeil, Christina’s mother
and the defendant’s former wife, and took her to McDonalds. Defendant and Christina arrived back at defendant’s
one bedroom apartment at approximately 8:00 p.m. where they ate dinner. The defendant put the victim to sleep in
the bedroom at approximately 10:30 p.m. At 12:00 a.m. he heard Christina singing to herself and looking at books, at
which time he again told her to go to sleep. He returned to his computer until about 2:00 a.m. when he decided to go
to sleep, at which time he checked on Christina and saw her sleeping. The defendant then laid down on the couch
located in the living room but did not fall asleep until about 2:45 a.m. due to the severe thunder and lightening. No
other persons were in the apartment with the victim and defendant. When the defendant went to sleep, he left the
front door open so he could hear the thunder and lightening but locked the screen door. When he went to wake the
victim up at 7:40 a.m. he found her in a deceased condition. Police officers have not found any evidence of
unauthorized entry.

In a series of interviews, the defendant asserted that Misook Nowlin, his on again, off again girlfriend, was the
murderer. The defendant claims that Misook Nowlin was obsessed with the defendant, resentful of defendant’s
relationship with Christina and the child support being paid to Christina. Defendant claims that Misook murdered
Christina to be alone with defendant and he reports at length the domestic problems between himself and Misook,
none of which involved Christina.

The defendant then told officers that Misook Nowlin crawled through the bedroom window during the night,
strangled the victim and then left again through the window. When confronted with evidence that no one could have
gained entry in that manner, defendant then asserted that Misook Nowlin came in through the front door. When
reminded that the screen door was locked, defendant then asserted that some person might have come through another
window in the apartment. None of the windows or the area below the windows showed any signs of disturbance and
there is no evidence » showing unauthorized entry into the apartment.

ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE SUGGESTING GUILT OF ANOTHER

The appellate courts and the Illinois Supreme Court have established and applied a clear standard for the admissibility
of evidence suggesting guilt of another. If evidence that another person committed the crime charged against the
defendant is too remote or speculative or if it fails to link a third person closely with the commission of the crime, the
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trial court should exclude it. Peo  v. Howard, 147 11l. 2d 103, 1991, Pe v. Bruce 185 Ill. App. 3d 356, 541
NE2d 708 (1989 5" Dist), People v. Columbo, 118 Iil. App. 3d882, 455 N.k2d733 (1 Dist. 1983). Evidence that
'someone else committed the crime is relevant and admissible only if and when a close connection can be
demonstrated between the third person and the commission of the crime. People v. Maberry, 193 Ill. App 3d 250, 549
NE2d 974 (4" Dist. 1990). Evidence of motive, without more, is insufficient to require admission of the evidence.
People v. Whalen , 238 I1l. App.3d 994, 605 N.E2d 604 (4" Dist. 1992).

A review of the facts of the fourth district and Illinois Supreme Court cases indicate that the defendant must be able
to demonstrate the third person’s connection to the crime charged. In People v. Maberry , the victim was sexually
assaulted on 8/1/86 by a person wearing a mask and armed with a knife. The victim provided a physical description
and further indicated that it was the defendant. The victim was acquainted with defendant from having attended
school with him and working with him at the same retail store.

Defendant attempted to show that on the evening before the attack, the victim had reported her former boyfriend to
authorities on a charge of burglary and requested extra police patrol after making this report. The former boyfriend
was also seen in the area on the evening of 7/31/86. The trial court precluded the introduction of this evidence and on
appeal defendant argued that the former boyfriend had a motive to commit the crime and was in the general area
shortly before the attack. The appellate court affirmed the ruling of the trial court and held that this evidence was
insufficient to establish any link between the boyfriend and the attack that occurred on 8/1/86 and therefore
inadmissible.

People v. Whalen stands for the proposition that motive alone is insufficient to require admission of evidence to show
that a third person may have committed the crime for which defendant is charged.

In Whalen, the defendant was charged with the murder of his father after the victim’s body was found in the victim’s
tavern. Evidence showed that the tavern safe was found open and empty. Furthermore, the defendant had an
expensive cocaine habit, had been recently ejected from the family residence and one month prior to the murder,
defendant and victim had been involved in a fight. The defense sought to introduce evidence that a patron, Robert
McElvany may have murdered the victim. The defense argued that McElvaney had motive as he had been asked by
the decedent to leave the tavern shortly before the murder after McElvaney had a confrontation with other patrons.
When detectives interviewed McElvaney shortly after the murder, they discovered that he was fully dressed which
was unusual based on their prior contacts with McElvaney. Furthermore, when advised that there was a disturbance at
the tavern, McElvaney replied “I wouldn’t hurt Bill Whalen, Bill Whalen is my buddy. What did I do?”.

The appellate court affirmed the trial court’s refusal to allow this evidence, finding that motive alone was insufficient
to allow the introduction of this evidence.

People v. Howard also supports the proposition that evidence of motive alone is insufficient to allow its introduction.
In this case the victim was shot while he was sitting in his car. His passenger escaped injury and was able to identify
the shooter in a lineup and also at trial. Prior to trial, the court granted the State’s motion in limine to preclude cross
examination of whether the witness had a romantic relationship with the victim. The defense argued that both victim
and the witness were married to other people at the time of the offense and during the initial stages of the
investigation, the police had investigated the shooting as a family related homicide. Police also questioned the
witness’ husband and subjected him to a lie detector test. The defense argued that the cross examination was relevant
because it suggested that the witness’s husband, or even the victim’s wife had a motive to commit the offense
charged. The Court affirmed the trial court’s ruling on the ground that the information would have been completely
speculative. Furthermore, the defendant’s theory was groundless in that they provided no evidence linking either
spouse to the murder.

The appellate court and Illinois Supreme Court has refused the admission of evidence which suggests guilt of another
where the facts were much more compelling than in the case at bar. In this case, the defendant’s assertions against
Misook are founded entirely on speculation and unsupported by the evidence. Applying the principles set forth in
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me say that I hope that we really don't
have to do this in another ten years.”
(Emphasis added.)

For the reasons stated above, I believe
that the tie-breaking procedure set forth in
article 1V, section 3(b), of the Illinois Con-
stitution of 1970 violates the due process
clause of the fourteenth amendment to the
United States Constitution. Any redistrict-
ing plan produced as a result of the tie-
breaking procedure is therefore unconstitu-
tional and invalid.

There is no need to delay the primary
election. The candidates can run in the
existing legislative distriets and serve until
a constitutional map is adopted. This pro-
cedure was recently approved by the Unit-
ed States Supreme Court for elections in
the State of Mississippl. Watkins » Ma-
bus (1991), — U.S. ——, 112 S.Ct. 412, 116
L.Ed.2d 433.

We should not hasten to gamble away
the government “of the People, by the Peo-
ple, and for the People” on the turn of a
card, roll of the dice, or even random selec-
tion.

CLARK and FREEMAN, JJ., join in this
dissent.

O ¢ KLY HUMBER SYSTEM

ialit 3

147 111.2d 103
167 Ill.Dec. 914

The PEOPLE of the State
of Illinois, Appellee,

v. -
Stanley HOWARD, Appellant.
No. 65473.

Supreme Court of Illinois.

Dec. 19, 1991.
Rehearing Denied March 30, 1992.

Defendant was convicted in the Circuit
Court of Cook County, John J. Mannion, J.,
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of murder and attempted armed robbery,
and sentenced to death. Defendant appeal-
ed. The Supreme Court, Miller, C.J., held
that: (1) corpus delicti of armed robbery
was established; (2) defendant’s inculpato-
ry statements were not the products of
physical coercion; (3) jury selection process
was proper; (4) prosecutor did not make
improper comments during opening state-
ments in guilt-innocence phase; (5) it was
appropriate for State to establish defen-
dant's alias; (6) trial judge did not abuse
his discretion in denying defendant’s mo-
tion .for mistrial following outburst by
courtroom spectator; (7) prosecutor’s com-
ment on defendant’s failure to testify was
harmless; (8) trial judge did not improperly
limit defense counsel's opening statement
and closing argument “during eligibility
stage of bifurcated sentencing hearing; (9)
victim impact evidence'was admissible: (10)
evidence of prior break-in was admissible
at sentencing hearing; (11) prosecutor’s
closing argument did not mislead jury re-
garding its function in sentencing hearing;
and (12) death sentence was not excessive,

Affirmed.

Freeman, J., filed specially concurring
opinion.

1. Criminal Law ¢=412(6)

Proof of corpus delicti must rest on
evidence apart from defendant’s own state-
ments that tends to show commission of
the offense and that corroborates facts re-
lated in the statement.

2. Criminal Law &=535(2)

Eyewitness' testimony and physical ev-
idence sufficiently corroborated tdefen-
dant’s declarations in his oral and signed
confessions that he intended to commit
armed robbery and that he was attempting
to do so when he shot victim, and defen-
dant’s statements and the independent evi-
dence established corpus delicti of armed
robbery.

3. Criminal Law ¢=412(6)

Evidence corroborating statement of
accused need not independently establish
offense beyond reasonable doubt; rather, it
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st rest opf 15. Criminal Law &721(5) n
Ofvn'at;m. appro;akl)l fo death penalty but were not Prosecution may remark on uncontra-
mission of . excludaple for cause: dicted character of evidence of defendant’s Ry
3 facts re- " 9. Criminal Law €=730(2) guilt, and not every such reference must e
Prosecutor's improper comment in necessarily be construed as impermissible !
opening statement in guilt/innocence comment on accused’s failure to testify. ‘ '
nysical go- stage, describing State’s witnesses as U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 5. '
+«d  defen- “lcJommon day people who have the cour- ..
nd signed aEze to come in here and tell you what they 16. Criminal Law €=721(3)
O commit heard and saw” did not require reversal, In determining whether improper com-
.tempting where trial judge properly sustained defen- ment has been made on defendant’s asser-
nd defen- dant's objection. tion of/bj,s‘,.right not to testify in his own
ndent evi behalf, court will consider whether refer-
of armed 10, Criminal Law ¢=703 ence was intended or calculated to direct
Prosecutor’s comment in opening attention of jury to defendant’s neglect to
statement was merely a neutral reference avail himself of his legal right to testify; in
o fact that prosecution of case had been making that determination, reviewing court
ement of commenced by indictment, and did not sug-  will examine challenged- comment in con-
establish gest that return of indictment constituted text of entire proceeding. U.S.C.A. Const.
rather, & evidence of guilt. Amend. 5.

PEOPLE v. HOWARD n. 1045
Clte as 588 N.E2d 1044 (1il. 1991)

icient if corroborating evidence tends

‘msuff st
commission of the offense.

7] Show

i Criminal Law &=414

Evidence did not establish that defen-
dant was injured while in police custody or
that his inculpatory statements were the
roducts of physical coercion; rather, evi-
gencg supporbed inference that defendant
5usr,ained leg and chest injuries while he
was attempting to elude arresting officers.

5. Jury S13113)

Trial judge did not abuse his discretion
1 denying defendant’s request that each
pmspective juror be examined separately,
apart from remainder of venire.

5. Jury &13100)
Trial judge did not abuse his discretion
in declining to permit attorneys to question
rospective jurors themselves. S.H.A. ch.
1104, 11234, 431

7. Jury &»131(8)

Trial judge did not abuse his discretion
in refusing defense request that prospec-
tive jurors be guestioned about their atti-
udes toward handguns. .

8. Jury €33(2.1)

Court was not required to inquire into
prosecutor’s decision to peremptorily chal-
lenge prospective jurors who expressed dis-

11. Criminal Law &=339.5

It is proper to show that accused is
same person as that named in an indict-
ment.

12. Criminal Law &345

It was appropriate for State to estab-
lish defendant’s alias, where indictment
identified defendant by both. his actual
name and his alias.

13. Criminal Law &=632(4)

Trial judge properly granted State’s
motion in limine and refused to permit de-
fendant to cross-examine prosecution wit-
ness on subject of her marriage and nature
of her relationship with victim, on ground
that defendant's theory that witness’ hus-
band or victim's wife may have been in-
volved in the murder, was speculative.

14. Criminal Law ¢=659

Trial judge did niet abuse hisdiscretionr

in denying defendant’s motion for mistrial
following outburst by courtroom spectator;
outburst was an isolated incident occurring
in course of lengthy trial and there was no
indication that the jury would not have
been able to heed trial judge’s admonition
and erase incident from their minds during
their deliberations.
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17. Criminal Law €=721(5)

Prosecutor’s reference to absence of
anything “from the witness stand” to con-
tradict statements appearing in defendant’s
confessions was an impermissible comment

" on defendant’s failure to testify. U.S.C.A.
Const.Amend. 5.

18. Criminal Law €=919(4)

Although comment on defendant’s fail-
ure to testify is constitutional error, error
does not inevitably require that defendant

be granted new trial. US.C.A. Const.
Amend. 5.

19. Criminal Law ¢>1162

Notwithstanding occurrence of consti-
tutional error at trial, criminal conviction
may be affirmed if reviewing court is able
to conclude, upon examination of entire
record, that error was harmless beyond
reasonable doubt.

20. Criminal Law €=730(10)

Trial eourt’s error in failing to sustain
defense objection to prosecutor’s comment
on defendant’s failure to testify was harm-
less, in view of overwhelming evidence of
defendant’s guilt and jury instruction that
closing arguments -were not evidence.
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 5.

21. Criminal Law e>726

Prosecutor’s remark that defense
counsel was attempting to “throw a little
mud on” prosecution witness was a proper
response to and was invited by defense
counsel’s comments in summation suggest-
ing that witness had a relationship with
victim.
22. Criminal Law ¢=717

Prosecutor’s closing argument that de-
fendant, in arming himself, in locating in-

REPORTER, 2d SERIES

opening statements and closing argypy
and was properly instructed on law of
tempt. S.H.A. ch. 38, 1 8-4(a).

24. Criminal Law €>730(1)

Trial court's initial restrictiong
fense counsel's argument that jury eopll
consider any lingering doubts conceryth
guilt for underlying offense in determjy,
whether murder defendant should be g
tenced to death did not prejudice defs
dant, where trial judge permitted def
counsel to thoroughly explore the g
issue in her closing argument during ﬁ*‘&
stage of sentencing hearing. :

25. Criminal Law &72§
Prosecutor’s comment, in response tg;
defense counsel's opening statement in cagé:;*
ital sentencing hearing, stating that “ghe § S
trying to re-open and_pry.into your-mi
from yesterday. That's improper” was
vited by defense counsel’s preceding ap
ment stressing to jury counsel’s conten:
that there remained residual doubt of 4
fendant's guilt for attempted armed-
bery on which defendant’s eligibility . fgpgst
death penalty was dependent; even assgm
ing that capital defendant could make 3
an argument, prosecutor’s comment did pot.
interfere with exercise of that right. "

26. Criminal Law &=1042, 1063(1)
Supreme Court would decline to cons
sider whether trial judge abused his discre-
tion in failing to grant Jjury’s request, darf
ing deliberations at eligibility stage of capk
tal sentencing hearing, for copy of defen- :--
dant’s’ formal confession, where defenge
counsel made no contemporaneous objee-
tion to trial judge’s handling of the request
and did not raise issue in posttrial motion,
suggesting that counsel was satisfied with

tended victims, and in approaching their “TWay in which inquiry was handled.

car and engaging driver in conversation,
had taken substantial step toward commit.-
ting armed robbery, correctly stated the
law. S.H.A. ch. 38, 1 8-4(a).

23. Criminal Law ©=1037.1(2)

Any error in prosecutor’s closing argu-
ment regarding law of attempt was not
plain error, where jury received standard
instruction concerning role and purpose of

27. Criminal Law &1208.1(4)
Capital sentencing determination re-
quires, as a constitutional matter, an indi

vidualized consideration of offense and of-
fender, ‘

28. Criminal Law €=1208.1(6)

Victim impact evidence is relevant to -
consideration of appropriate punishment
for capital defendant, and there is no state
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"y Criminal Law &=1208.1(6)
. To be admissible at capital sentencing
pearing: evidence must be relevant and reli-

,ble.
10 Homicide &=358(1)

" ylthough charges against murder de-
"+ arising out of residential break-in
4 by unknown, masked intruder
ssed because residents were un-
ntify defendant as intruder, in-
erence that defendant committed the
preak-in Was supported by sufficient evi-
nce o allow admission of evidence of the
n at capital sentencing hearing.

fendant
wmmitw )

ere dismi
sple to ide

Je
preakd
31, Homicide €=358(1)

Officer’s testimony that he arrested
defendant after defendant threw
velope containing small quantity of
a was admissible at capital sen-

murder
away en
marijuan

——grcing—hearing; report of marijuana sell-

\ng Wwas offered merely to show why offi-
cer went to particular location at that time,
and jurors were informed that defendant
was charged with and convicted of misde-
meanor possession offense in connection
with the incident.

32. Criminal Law =722

Prosecutor’s remark in closing argu-
ment at second stage of capital sentencing
hearing, which allegedly suggested that
murder defendant’s prior conviction was

juana did not have any effect on jury's
deliberations, since comment was s0 fleet-
ing and competent evidence so aggravat-
ing.
33. Homicide €=343

Testimony of outstanding warrant for
defendant’s arrest on charge of obstructing
a police officer was not so prejudicial that
murder defendant was denied fair capital
sentencing hearing, in view of minor nature
of the charge and gravity of offenses prop-
erly introduced into evidence in aggrava-
tion.

34. Homicide €358(1)
Witness’ opinion that murder defen-
dant should not be sentenced to death is

PEOPLE v. HOWARD
Cite as 388 N.E2d 1044 (Il 1991)

for selling, rather than possession of, mari-

1047

not admissible at capital sentencing hear-
ing.

~'357 Criminal Law &723(1)

Prosecutor’s scattered references in
closing argument at conclusion of second
stage of capital sentencing hearing to the
sentencing determination as a “recommen-
dation” did not mislead jurors regarding
their roles, where trial judge did not en-
dorse prosecutor’s misstatements, but rath-
er fully and accurately instructed jurors on
their role. S.H.A. ch. 38, 19-1{g).

36. Criminal Law &=723(1)

Prosecutor’'s comments did not mislead
jury on proper role of mercy in capital
sentencing  proceeding; rather, jurors
would have properly understood prosecu-
tor's argument as a reminder that they
were to make their sentencing determina-
tion on basis of evidence presented at the
hearing, not on extraneous considerations
divorced from that evidence.

37. Criminal Law &=723(1)

Prosecutor’s rhetorical question during
rebuttal argument in capital sentencing
hearing asking “Is this a crime, a series of
crimes that were done out of passion, jeal-
ously, revenge?” would have been inter-
preted by jury as comment on absence of
any extenuating circumstances surround-
ing commission of the murder and did not
mislead jury concerning applicability of

~ death penalty in homicide cases.

38. Criminal Law €>720(5), 1171.3

Prosecutor's comment concerning testi-
mony of defense witness who provided fa-
vorable testimony with respect to defen-
dant’s conduct while incarcerated was not
improper,'but if any error occurred, it was
harmless, in light of fleeting nature of com-
ment and strength of prosecution’s evi-
dence in aggravation.

39, Criminal Law €726

Prosecutor's comment that murder de-
fendant might be later released on parole if
he was not sentenced to death was invited
by defense counsel’s erroneous argument
in summation that defendant, if not sen-
tenced to death, could not later be released
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from prison except through executive clem-
ency. T

40. Criminal Law =723(1), 726

Trial judge did not abuse his discretion
in overruling defense objections to prosecu-
tor's rebuttal argument in capital sentenc-
ing hearing that jurors should equate their
imposition of death penalty with military
service in World War II or Vietnam and
that they must similarly protect society,
that jury should not forgive defendant for
what he had done to victims of his of-
fenses, that jury was to impose death pen-
alty for sake of community at large, and
that failure to do so would mean that socie-
ty did not care about victims; comments
were mainly in response to, and invited by,
defense counsel's own comments in sum-
mation.

41. Criminal Law €=21037.1(2)
Prosecutor’s observation in capital sen-
tencing hearing that jury instructions
would not contain particular phrase fa-
vored by defense counsel did not suggest
that jurors should disregard defense evi-

dence and did not rise to level of plain
error.

42. Homicide =311

Murder defendant’s requested instruc-
tion that defendant might be sentenced to
term of natural life imprisonment if he was
not sentenced to death was potentially mis-
leading, and was properly refused, because
it highlighted one sentencing alternative
without mentioning any of the other dispo-
sitions possible. S.H.A. ch. 38, 110058~
Ha)1).

43. Homicide &=357(7)

Death sentence for cold-blooded mup-
der of victim in aborted attempt at armed
robbery was not excessive, particularly in
view of defendant’s extensive history of
violent criminal activity and absence of evi-

dence in mitigation. S.H.A. ch. 38, 1 9-1(b),
par. 6.

44. Homicide ¢=35]

Death penalty statute does not uncon-
stitutionally cast on defendant the burden
of establishing that sentence other than
death should be imposed in his case, nor is

588 NORTH EASTERN REPORTER, 2d SERIES

statute invalid for failing to require.
to carry burden of persuasion at
stage of sentencing hearing. S.H.A. ¢
19-1.

45. Homicide @=351

Death penalty statute is not inyg
failing to require sentencing authori
make separate, additional finding
death is appropriate penalty. SHA,
38, 19-1. :

Randolph N. Stone, Public Defender,
cago, (Kyle Wesendorf and Rita A Fry
counsel), Chicago, for appellant.

Neil F. Hartigan, Atty. Gen., Springﬂéj%
Cecil A. Partee, State's Atty., Chicag
(Terence M. Madsen, Asst. Atty. Gen, Ch&
cago, and Renee Goldfarb and Jameg g
Veldman, Asst. State's Attys. of 00“@1),
for the people.

Chief Justice MILLER delivereq A
opinion of the court: -
Following a jury trial in the cireyit 0
of Cook County, the defendant, St&nht
Howard, was convicted of murder angd ‘g3
tempted armed robbery. At a separte
sentencing hearing, the same jury found"
the defendant eligible for the death Penal
on the ground that the murder was commit.
ted in the course of an attempted armed ¢
robbery, a statutory aggravating cxrcum. A
Stance (IlLRev.Stat.1983. ch. 38 par. %
1(b)6)). The jury concluded that thers
were no mitigating circumstances suffi.
cient to preclude imposition of the death
penalty, and the trial Judge therefore geg.
tenced the defendant to Jesth. The judge
also sentenced the defendant to 15 yeary'
Imprisonment on the attempted armed rob-
bery conviction. The defendant’s death
sentence has been stayed pending direet
review by this court. (Il Const.1970, art
VI, § 4(b); 134 IL2d Ruks 603, 609(a))
For the reasons set out helow, we affirm
the judgment of the cirewit court.

The facts surrounding e defendant's
commission of the presen: ~¥enses may be
stated briefly. Around 4 am. on May 20,
1984, Oliver Ridgell was shet as he sat ins
car parked on 92nd Streer between Loomis
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PEOPLE v. HOWARD 1049
Clte as 588 N.E2d 1044 (11l 1991)

Ada gtreets, in Chicago. Ridgell died
ceral hours later as a result of the gun-
wound. A passenger in the car, Tec-
Mullen, was unharmed, and she testi-
or® in behalf of the prosecution at the
defendam's trial. Mullen, who had known
dgell for about 15 years, lived around the
er from where Ridgell parked. Mullen
wﬁmfied that it was raining lightly at the
gme of the shooting but that the windows
e driver’s side of the car were unobs-
cured. Mullen said that while she and Rid-
o]} were sitting in the car talking, she saw
man approach the car from the opposite
side of the street. /At a police lineup con-
ducted in November 1984, and later, at the
defendant's trial in April 1987, Mulleniden-
dfied the defendant as the offender./\

on (h

According to Mullen, the defendant came
to the driver's side of the car and
gnocked on the driver's window. In re-
sponse, Ridgell lowered the left rear win-
dow several inches, using. the electric win-
dow Opener. According to Mullen, the de-
fendant then “agked for a light, or a
match,” W which Ridgell responded, “No,
man, go ahead.” The defendant stepped
pack five or six feet from the car, stamped
his foot, and said, “All right, then, godam-
mit.” The defendant drew a gun from his
jacket pocket, pointed the weapon at Rid-
gell, and fired. According to the autoptic
and forensic evidence introduced at trial,
the bullet shattered the left rear window of
the car and struck Ridgell in the back.

Mullen dropped to the floor of the car
after the shot was fired, and she was there-
fore unable to see in what direction the
defendant fled following the incident. Mul-
ten briefly left the car to summon help but,
fearing that the gunman might still be in
the vicinity, she quickly returned to the
vehicle. With Ridgell still sitting in the
driver's seat, Mullen then drove several
blocks until she was able to stop a passing
police car. Mullen reported the shooting to
the officer, and paramedics were called to
the scene. Ridgell died around 7:30 that
morning. Mullen was later questioned by
the police, and she provided officers with a
description of the gunman.

A nearby resident also testified as an
occurrence witness.  Marilyn McDuffy
lived in the building in front of which Rid-
gell had parked the car. McDuffy testified
that she heard a commotion in the street
around 4 a.m. on May 20, 1984. She then
looked out a window and saw a woman
running around a car shouting that some-
one had been shot. McDuffy did not wit-
ness the shooting and did not see anyone
else in the street, but she believed she
heard someone leave the scene on foot.

Investigating  officers subsequently
found a shell casing from a S-millimeter
semiautomatic pistol at the scene of the
shooting. The murder weapon was never
recovered. The defendant remained at
large until November 1, 1984, when he was
arrested by Chicago police officers on an
unrelated warrant. Following the arrest,
investigating officers discovered that the
defendant matched the description provided
by Tecora Mullen; ina lineup conducted on
November 2, Mullen-identified-the—defen-
dant as the person who had shot and killed
Ridgell. The defendant was questioned
about the present offenses on November 3.
After waiving his Miranda rights, the de-
fendant initially denied having any infor-
mation about the Ridgell murder. When
the defendant learned that he had been
identified as the gunman, he admitted his
responsibility for the shooting. The defen-
dant told officers that he had been -walking
around with a gun “looking for someone to
rob.”” After providing an oral confession
to the crimes, the defendant directed sever-
al police officers to the crime scene and
reenacted his commission of the offenses.

The defendant later agreed to make a
formal statement in the presence of a court
stenographer, and the statement was intro-
duced into evidence at trial. In the state-
ment, the defendant said that he was at his
girlfriend’s house during the evening of
May 19;-1984, until 11 o'clock. At that
time the defendant went to the house of a
friend, Byron, to “pick up a gun.” Asked
why he needed 2 gun, the defendant ex-
plained, “So 1 could try to get me some
money.” The defendant said that he left
Byron’s house around midnight and “wan-
dered around for a little while * * * [tiry-
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ing to find me a victim to stick up.”
Around 4:30 or 5 o'clock that morning the
defendant saw two people sitting in a
parked car near 92nd and Loomis Streets.
The defendant walked up to the car and
asked the driver for a cigarette; the driver
replied that he did not have any. The
defendant then said that he had his own
cigarettes and asked the driver for a light.
As the defendant reached into his pocket,
he saw the driver reaching into his own
pocket “like he was going for a gun.” The
defendant said that he backed away from
the car, fired two or three shots at the
driver, and then ran to his girlfriend’s
house, located one-half block away. The
defendant said that he later returned the
borrowed gun to his friend. In the state-
ment, the defendant replied affirmatively
to the assistant State’s Attorney’s question
whether he intended to rob the occupants
of the car when he approached the car.

Defense counsel presented evidence con-
tradicting several facts related in the de-
fendant’s oral and signed statements. The
defendant’s girlfriend, Terry Jones, testi-
fied that she was living in a distant part of
the city at the time of the offenses. Jones
also stated that her mother, with whom she
resided, did” not permit the defendant to
stay overnight. Byron Hopkins, the person
identified in the defendant’s statements as
the source of the murder weapon, failed to
respond to a defense subpoena to testify.
His testimony was therefore introduced
into evidence by way of stipulation. Ac-
cording to the stipulation, Hopkins, if

called to testify, would have denied that he

supplied-the defendant with a weapon and
would have stated that he did not own a 9-
millimeter gun of the type used by the
defendant.

Following the close of evidence, the jury™

found the defendant guilty of murder and
of attempted armed robbery, and judgment
was entered on the verdicts. A separate
sentencing hearing was then conducted be-
fore the same jury to determine whether
the defendant would receive the death pen-
alty for the murder conviction. In the first
stage of the sentencing hearing, the prose-
cution presented evidence that the defen-
dant, born in November 1962, was 21 years
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she said she could obtain some money.-

old at the time of his commisg;
murder charged here and thus w,
death-eligible age (see Hl.Rev.Stat,lggx;" ;
38, par. 9-1(b). The prosecution alsg g 1.
duced into evidence the verdict fopy
flecting the defendant's convictig
murder and attempted armed ATy,
Following deliberations, the jury foung
defendant eligible for the death Penalty
the basis of his commission of murder%
ing the course of attempted armeq m%
(see [1l.Rev.Stat.1983, ch. 38, par. 9.1(1,)(5‘)1’
the sole statutory aggravating %
stance alleged by the prosecution i the
present case. iy

teng.

During the second stage of the sen
ing hearing, the State presented d
evidence of the defendant’s extensive critmg.
nal history, comprising nearly a dozen sep-
arate occurrences. For the most part, thig

“information was introduced through the

testimony of the victims of the defendang
prior offenses. The evidence is Summg.
rized below in chronological order. '

On March 9, 1981, the defendant m
convicted of theft and was sentenced. {p
serve two days in jail and one year's cond
tional discharge. According to the certi.
fied copy of conviction for the offense, that
charge was brought against Don Sanders, "
also known as Stanley Howard. ik

During the evening of March 13, 1988,
the defendant accosted a woman and her
young son outside their home. Armed with
a pistol, the defendant forced the woman .
and the child into their car and then drove '
off. As they were driving, the defendant
demanded the woman’s jewelry and threat
ened to rape her. The woman directed the
defendant to her mother’s house, where

The woman's mother refused to let them
inside but did give her daughter $20. The
defendant then drove the woman and her
child back to their apartment. The defen-
dant ransacked the premises, looking for
valuables. He eventually left with the
woman’s car, which was recovered several
days later.

Also during the night of March 13-14,
1983, the defendant, while armed with &
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ool entered 2 vehicle in a restaurant
P"wi;,g lot and demanded money from the

occupants, off-duty police officers. -

oo defendant threatened to rape the wom-

the back seat of the vehicle. The

man W33 able to kick the defendant as

was exiting the vehicle, and the defen-

¢ then fled. The male officer and the

&{endaﬂc exchanged gunfire. The officers

aufied the defendant as their assailant

2 lineup conducted on November 2, 1984,

the defendant was later convicted of
e armed robbery of the two officers.

On May 97, 1983, the defendant accosted

, female deputy sheriff as she was getting
ato her car to drive to work. The defen-
4ant put @ guD to the woman’s side, pushed
woman into the car, and drove off.
The defendant eventuaily drove the deputy
o the home shared by the deputy’s 45-
'e&r,o]d sister-in-law and the sister-in-law’s
33-year—old male cousin. There, the defen-

0

st =amsacked the premises, tied up the
cousin, raped the deputy, forced the deputy
p perform oral sex on him, and then forced
.he deputy and her sister-in-law to perform
oral sex on the cousin. Afterwards, the
jefendant took money and jewelry from
se house and forced the two women into
the car. The sister-in-law managed to es-
ape from the vehicle. The defendant
drove the deputy to another location, where
ne raped her again and then released her.
The deputy identified the defendant as the

sssailant in a lineup conducted on Novem--

ber 2, 1984. The defendant was later con-
victed of the aggravated kidnapping, kid-
aapping, armed robbery, rape, and deviate
sexual assault of the deputy, of home inva-
sion, and of the deviate sexual assault of
the deputy’s sister-in-law.

On May 29, 1983, a police officer found
the defendant in possession of a small
quantity of marijuana. The defendant was
ater charged with and convicted of a mis-
demeanor for that offense, and he was
fined 2 small amount and was sentenced to
serve two days in jail

Over the defendant’s objection, the State
also presented evidence of a break-in at a
prvate residence in Chicago on June 20,
1983. On that occasion, an intruder wear-

ing a ski mask entered a house sometime
after midnight, confronted the female occu-

pant, and threatened to kill her if she

screamed. The intruder held something
metallic to the woman's neck. The intrud-
er then removed several pieces of jewelry
from around the woman’s neck. The in-
truder fled when the woman’s husband re-
turned home. The defendant was found
five days later in possession of certain
items of jewelry taken during the break-in.
The defendant was initially charged with
the offense, but the charges were dis-
missed when the victims were unable to
identify the defendant as the intruder.

On October 28, 1983, the defendant stole
a car from a woman in a parking lot.
Around 9:30 that evening the owner was
standing next to her car when the defen-
dant ran up, pushed the woman aside,
jumped into the vehicle, and drove off.
The car was recovered several hours later,
and the defendant was taken into custody
at that time. The defendant was charged
with robbery and was later released on
bond. The case had not come to trial by
the time of the present sentencing hearing.

In December 1983, the defendant stole a
purse from a woman standing outside her
home. The purse contained $700 the wom-
an had won that night while bowling. The
defendant was later charged with felony
theft; the case had not come to trial by the
time of the present sentencing hearing.

The prosecution also introduced evidence
of offenses committed by the defendant at
2 home in Blue Island on June 21, 1984.
The defendant entered the home around
11:30 that night, surprising the two occu-
pants, 2 man in his sixties and a woman
who was about seven years younger. The
defendant tied the man’s hands and cover-
ed him with an afghan. The defendant
then sexually assaulted the woman. The
defendant took about $800 in cash from the
man and drove off in the man’s car. View-
ing a photographic array several weeks
later, the two victims identified the defen-
dant as the assailant. The victims identi-
fied the defendant once again in a lineup
conducted on November 2, 1984.
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reasons having nothing to do with any real
procedural protections afforded to defen-
dants in criminal cases. We also note that
because the prosecutor in this case failed to
seek the forfeiture of defendant’s $5,000
cash bond, he thereby ignored a sum that
could have been obtained to help reduce the
burden on the taxpayers of Logan County
of supporting the local criminal justice sys-
tem. In order to obtain defendant’s cash
bond, the prosecutor would-of necessity
have complied with section 32-10 of the
Code—which requires such a forfeiture as
a necessary condition in order to bring a
bond jumping charge—thereby avoiding
any procedural problems in prosecuting de-
fendant for jumping bond once he was ap-
prehended.

III. CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated, we reverse the
judgment of the circuit court.
Reversed.
KNECHT and GREEN, JJ., concur.
SYSTER.
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238 Il App.3d 994

178 Tll.Dec. 810
The PEOPLE of the State of Illinois,
Plaintiff-Appellee,
v.

Donsald J. WHALEN, Defendant~
Appellant.

No. 4-81-0974.

Appellate Court of Illinois,
Fourth District.
Dec. 10, 1992.

Defendant was convicted in the Circuit
Court, McLean County, Wayne C. Townley,
Jr, J., of two counts of first-degree mur-
der. Defendant appealed. The Appellate
Court, Lund, J., held that: (1) defendant
waived issue that preclusion of witness tes-
timony a8 discovery sanction violated his

N
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right to present witness; (2) evidence g
purchase and use of cocaine was ady
ble; and (3) evidence which defey
claimed tended to show that another;
mitted erime was inadmissible.

Affirmed. K
Knecht, J., concurred in part an
sented in part, with opinion. i

L. Criminal Law 8=627.8(6) e

Correct sanction to be applied fory
tion of discovery rule is left to trial
discretion, and judgment of trial-ju
given great weight, and this rule-
anced against principle that few right
more fundamental than that of ac
present witnesses in his own behalf:
2. Criminal Law ¢2627.8(6) ~ o

Exclusion of evidence as sanc§
discovery violation is drastic measu
plicable to flagrant violations wh¢
cooperaﬁve party demonstratea d

court’s authority.

3. Criminal Law ¢=629.5(2)
Factors to consider before witag
clusion sanction is employed to enfe
covery rules are effectiveness ofs
vere sanctions, materiality of testim
outcome of case, prejudice to
caused by testimony, and evidence.
faith in violation of discovery rules.

4. Criminal Law €1035(2) - is:

Defendant’s refusal of offer © |
ue trial to later date when defendadl
late disclosure of his expert fingerps
ness eight days before trial and stii
cated that it would need more
days to prepare for witness effé
waived for purposes of review i
preclusion of testimony was too
sanction. .

8. Criminal Law =609
Trial court was not required to
ish defendant that if he decided to
to trial and refused continuangs:
would allow state to prepare
whom defendant did not disclose. unti
days before trial, he would waive
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complain that trial court’s preclusion of
witness’ testimony violated his right to
present witnesses.

6. Criminal Law €=371(4, 12)
Homicide &=166(10)

Testimony that defendant purchased
cocaine shortly after his father’s murder
was admissible to show motive and intent;
victim was murdered at his tavern and
money was missing from safe, state was
attempting to show that defendant needed
money to satisfy his cocaine habit and that
gince he had worked part-time in family-
owned tavern, he would know that large
gum of money would be on hand and that
defendant had closer relationship with
mother and it would be easier for him to
get money from her with father out of
way.

7. Criminal Law €=369.2(1)

Evidence of other crimes is admissible
i it is relevant for any purpose other than
to show defendant’s propensity to commit
criminal offense.

8. Homicide €»166(1)

Generally, while any evidence which
tends to show that accused had motive for
committing murder is relevant, to be com-
petent, it must, at least to slight degree,
tend to establish existence of motive relied
on.

9. Criminal Law &=2371(12)

In some circumstances it is possible for
state to offer evidence tending to establish
defendant’s motivation even though it in-
volves potential of disclosing defendant’s
prior immoral or improper conduct.

10. Homicide #=162.

Testimony of detective and patron of
tavern whose owner was murdered was far
too uncertain to establish that patron may
have committed the murder and was inad-
missible; only evidence linking patron to
crime scene was fact that one of a number
of empty beer cans found at scene was
same brand that patron drank and there
was no evidence that patron had ever
touched that esn nor was there evidence of
animosity between patron and victim.

11. Criminal Law &=359

Defendant may prove any fact or cir-
cumstance tending to show that crime was
committed by person other than himself,
but that right is not without limitations.

12, Criminal Law &=338(1)

Trial court may reject offered evidence
on grounds of irrelevancy if it has little
probative value due to its remoteness, un-
certainty, or if it is speculative in nature.

13. Criminal Law €>338(1), 382, 1153(1)

Trial judge has wide scope of discre-
tion in ruling on issues of relevancy and
materiality and its ruling should not be
reversed absent clear showing of abuse of
that discretion.

George F. Taseff, Blaamingmn, for de-
fendant-appellant. :

Charles G. Reynard, State’'s Atty,
Bloomington, Norbert J. Goetten, Director,
State’s  Attys. Appellate Prosecutor,
Springfield, Robert J. Biderman, Deputy
Director, David E. Mannchen, Staff Atty.,
for plaintiff-appellee,

Justice LUND delivered the opinion of
the court:

Following a jury trial in the circuit court
of McLean County, defendant Donald J.
Whalen was convicted of two counts of
first degree murder, in violation of section
9-1(aX1) of the Criminal Code of 1961
(Code) (I1LBev.Stat.1991, ch. 38, par. 9-
1(aX1)), and sentenced to a term of 60
years’ imprisonment.

On appeal, defendant contends it was
reversible error to (1) exclude his expert
witness because of late disclosure; (2) ad-
mit evidence of his purchase and use of
cocaine; and (3) exclude evidence tending
to show that another committed the crime.
We disagree and affirm.

On the morning of April 6, 1991, the
body of William Whalen was discovered at
the Twenty Grand Tap in Bloomington, Il
nois. Police arrested his son, defendant
Donald Whalen, and charged him with two
counts of first degree murder. The dece-
dent had been struck 39 times with blunt
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instruments and stabbed over 30 times
with several sharp instruments. In its ini-
tial discovery response, the State disclosed
evidence of an alleged match between a
bloody latent palm print found on a broken
pool cue and inked palm prints of defen-
dant.

Defendant filed his discovery response
on September 30, 1991, and provided notice
of an intended alibi defense. No mention
was made of an intent to seek an expert
witness. Defendant then filed a supple-
mentary discovery response on October 21,
1991, that listed 24 additional witnesses,
but made no mention of seeking an expert
witness,

On November 4, 1991, eight days before
trial, defense counsel filed another supple-
mental discovery response disclosing his
intent to call an expert witness, Dr. Zeldes.
Zeldes' resumé was attached to the discov-

ery response, but there was no indication
of the nature or content of his proposed
testimony. The State telephoned Zeldes
the same day and learned that he was not
certain what he would be asked to testify
about, although he did indicate that one
area of his expertise is in fingerprint analy-
sis.

The next day, November 5, 1991, a hear-
ing was held on the State’s motion to strike
the supplemental discovery and bar the tes-
timony of Zeldes. The State argued that
as recently as October 28, 1991, defense
counsel advised them that the only evi-
dence he had was his alibi evidence and
character witnesses. No mention was
made of finding an expert witness in fin-
gerprint analysis. The State’s trial strate-
gy focused on its expert testimony versus
defendant’s alibi. This last-minute revela-
tion of expert testimony supporting defen-
dant’s position represented a major change
in the trial strategy which the State
claimed would require more than a single
week for adequate preparation. The State
argued that the situation was further ag-
gravated by the fact that it was given no
information regarding Zeldes’ findings.

Defense counsel contends the delay in
hiring Dr. Zeldes was caused by lack of
funds. The funds allegedly became avail-
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able approximately 10 days before the N
vember 5, 1991, hearing. The prints we
faxed to Zeldes approximately seven days:
prior to the hearing, and defense counsﬁi
was unable to speak to Zeldes personall
because defense counsel was involved v
a family matter regarding surgery on k
father.

The State questions the credibility of d
fense counsel’s argument on lack of fund;
It questions why defendant never fﬂedf‘
motion for the appointment of an e
alleging an inability to pay. Defense co
sel offered to set up a phone confere '
between Zeldes and the assistant Sts
Attorney on the following day. The |
court found this solution to be insuffi

time to get the job done. The trial cot i
granted the State’s motion to bar the 3
pert's testimony. 4

On November 6, 1991, defense em
filed a motion to reconsider the co¥
ruling barring Dr. Zeldes’ testimony.
tached to the motion was a letter'f
defense counsel’s private investigator, }
had spoken with Zeldes on the tele
and summarized the proposed testi
At a hearing held the following d&
fense counsel stated that he was
to have Zeldes issue a report and
faxed to the court immediately. He
that there was no undue delay on
of the defense from the point in time'w
the witness first became available to
and when he formed the intent to call
as a witness. sl

Defense counsel argued that
timony would cast doubt upon
physical evidence linking defendant,
crime and to exclude this besum%
deprive him of a fair trial The §
gued that it was now three da m’
name of the expert had been dis
it still did not have any type o
indicating the basis for the expert’s,
mination. Before a decision could I
to reconsider, the State argued tha.td
dant should produce Dr. Zeldes, i inp
along with whatever he used to mgl
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The trial court noted that defense coun-
el had not brought to the court’s attention
any problems concerning disclosure of ex-
pert witnesses, and that a firm trial date
had been set for over 60 days. Before
issuing its ruling on the motion to reconsid-
er, the court engaged in the following dia-
logue with defense counsel:

“[THE COURT:] I can only think of
one possible mitigation in this matter and
that is if you want a continuance is the
only possible situation we can run into.

[Defense counsell: Could—If we did
move for a continuance would we still be
able to try it this calendar?

THE COURT: No way it can be tried
this calendar with a continuance.

[Defense counsell When would the
next available trial—

THE COURT: January. B

[Defense counsel]: May I have a2 mo-
ment to discuss it with my client?

[Defendant]: Don’t need a moment.

{Defense counsel: My client indicates,
Your Honor, that he does not desire a
continuance.

THE COURT: Well, that's entirely up
to you. I would afford a continuance
potentially you see—

[Defense counsel]: I understand.

THE COURT: Seems to me that's the
only way we can cure the problem we
have, and even that imposes considerable
difficulty on the State because they have
at least an out-of-state witness that's
been subpoensed. They have a witness
out of the penitentiary, don’t you, that’s
been [‘lwritted out{"}?

[Prosecution}: Yes.

THE COURT: And we have, you

Could we have one more minute?

. . . L] L] *

[Defense counsel}: My client wishes to
proceed to trial on the 12th, Your Hon-

or.”
Motion to reconsider was denied, and the

action proceeded to trial on November 12,
1991.

[1,2] The correct sanction to be applied
for violation of a discovery rule is left to
the trial court’s discretion, and the judg-
ment of the trial judge is given great
weight. (People v. Morgan (1986), 112
nL2d 111, 135, 97 IN.Dec. 430, 439, 492
N.E.2d 1308, 1812) This rule is balanced
against the principle that few rights are
more fundamental than that of an accused
to present witnesses in his own defense.
(Taylor v. Illinois (1988), 484 U.S. 400, 108
S.Ct. 646, 98 L.Ed.2d 798.) The exclusion
of evidence i8 a drastic measure, applicable
to flagrant violations where the uncoopera-
tive party demonstrates a * ‘deliberate con-
tumacious or unwarranted disregard’” of
the court's authority. People v. Rayford
(1976), 43 Il App.3d 283, 286, 1 Ill.Dec. 941,
944, 356 N.E.2d 1274, 1277, quoting
Schwartz v. Moats (1971), 3 1. App.3d 596,

...599, 2171_N.E.2d 529, 531..

Even so, the Supreme Court rejected the
argument that preclusion of evidence is
never a permissible sanction for a discov-
ery violation:

“IT}t is neither necessary nor appropriate

for us to attempt to draft a comprehen-

sive set of standards to guide the exer-
cise of discretion in every possible case.

It is elementary, of course, that a trial

court may not ignore the fundamental

character of the defendant's right to of-
fer the testimony of witnesses in his
favor. But the mere invocation of that
right cannot automatically and invariably
outweigh countervailing public inter-
ests.” Taylor, 484 US. at 414, 108 S.Ct.
at 656, 98 L.Ed.2d at 814.

[3] The principal reason for notice rules
is prevention of surprise to the opposing
party, not punishment of the proponent of
the evidence for mere technical errors or
omissions. Other factors considered be-
fore a witness preclugion sanction is em-
ployed to enforce discovery rules are effec-
tiveness of less severe sanctions, materiali-
ty of the testimony to the outcome of the
case, prejudice to the other party caused by
the testimony, and evidence of bad faith in
the violation of the discovery rules. Unit-
ed States ex rel. Enoch v. Hartigan (Tth

Cir.1985), 768 F.2d 161. S
(A5
,
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[4] Defendant contends that the preclu-
sion of relevant defense testimony is too
harsh a sanction where there i8 no evidence
that defense counsel willfully violated dis-
covery rules in order to obtain a tactical
advantage. The State counters that there
is more than sufficient evidence of willful
behavior designed to obtain a tactical ad-
vantage. Furthermore, the State argues
that eight days would be insufficient time
to investigate Zeldes’ background, potential
bias, and qualifications while simultaneous-
ly reworking their entire trial strategy.
We need not address these arguments,
since we find that defendant’s refusal of an
offer to continue the trial to a later date
effectively waived this issue for purposes
of review.

The Supreme Court in Taylor acknowl-
edged that a sanction less drastic than evi-
dence preclusion is always available.
“Prejudice to the prosecution could be mini-

_mized by granting a continuance or a mis-
trial to provide time for further investiga-
tion * * *.” (Taylor, 484 US. at 413, 108
S.Ct. at 655, 98 L.Ed.2d at 813.) The trial
court offered a continuance of approxi-
mately two months and, after consulting
with defendant, the offer was refused.. De-
fendant cannot be permitted to complain of
an alleged error which was invited by his
behavior and preserved through his rejec-
tion of the only reasonable solution. See
People v. Moore (1988), 178 IlL.App.3d 531,
127 IlL.Dec. 591, 533 N.E.2d 463.

Defendant argues the court gave no as-
surance that the expert would be ailowed
to testify, even if the continuance was re-
quested. Furthermore, he argues that the
court gave no assurance that the continu-
ance would be granted if it was requested.
Appellate counsel is ignoring the clear in-
terpretation of the evidence as shown by
the transeript quoted above. No other res-
sonable interpretation can be given to this
discussion but that defendant was offered
the use of Dr. Zeldes' testimony in ex-
change for a continuance. The fact that
the continuance would delay the trial unti
January did not prevent waiver. Defen-
dant’s claim that the trial court might have
refused to grant the continuance, after
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NEX

suggesting that counsel should req
one, is unconvineing.

{5] Alternatively, defendant argu
that he was never admonished that '}
decision to proceed to trial on the sched l g
date effecuvely waived his right to pres
a witness in his defense. Consistent w
waivers in other sixth amendment conte
defendant contends that the court is’
quired to determme whether defend
knowingly, intentionally, and volunta 1
relinquished his constitutional right to com
pulsory process and to present th;neaseah
his defense. In support, defendant i
Faretta v. California (1975), 422 U 8.8
95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562, and Patlef
son v. lllinois (1988), 487 U.S. 285
S.Ct. 2389, 101 L.Ed.2d 261. Both
involve waiver of the sixth amend
right to counsel. We find no support i
these cases for defendant’s argument. e

{6} Next, defendant claims th
committed reversible error in allov
State to present testimony that defend
purchased cocaine in Chicago shortly'
the death of his father. At trial, Wil
Craig Elliott testified that defendant™
involved in a $3,000 purchase of cocaiie g
April 9 and 10, 1991, three days aftex
father’s death. The State maintaing}f
evidence of the cocaine purchase tend
establish a motive for the murder.  De
dant, claims there was insufficient
to establish the cocaine purchase as mg
and that proof of defendant's need:
money could have been established withg
reference to the actual cocaine purchas
Accordingly, the evidence is claxmeq?
have been grossly prejudicial and sh
have been excluded.

The State theorized that defendant :
poor relationship with his father and ]
him, in part, to support his cocaine
The State presented evidence that
dant had a $100-per-day cocaine :
One month prior to the murder, defends :
became involved in a fight with his fa
at the tavern. His father had also kicl
him out of the family residence. A P
investigator testified that defendan
him thgt he owed his father $350 :
trying to avoid seeing him. This conf}
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with defendant’s testimony that he worked
at his father's tavern the night before his
murder and was also scheduled to work the
following day. BEvidence also established
that defendant was an unemployed laborer
who tended bar on a part-time basis. He
had no checking or savings account. On
the morning of the day before the murder,
defendant borrowed $50 from his mother.

When police arrived at the scene of the
crime, the door to the safe was open with
no money inside. Evidence was heard that
as much as $900 could have been taken in
during the previous day’s business. Two
hundred and forty dollars in small bills
were left in the cash register. No evidence
established the actual amount in the safe
on that day.

Over defense counsel’s objection, William
Elliott testified that on April 9, 1991, defen-
dant told him he had approximately $5,000
and wanted to go to Chicago to buy co-
caine. Defendant allegedly purchased four
ounces of cocaine for $3,000 and then re-
turned to Bloomington with Elliott. The
jury was properly instructed to consider
evidence of the cocaine purchase solely in
terms of the issues of intent and motive.
Defendant denied these allegations, claim-
ing that he had never met Elliott, and nev-
er possessed $5,000 in cash nor purchased
any cocaine with Elliott.

.The State then produced evidence that a
few weeks later defendant sold his family’s
lawn mower for $500. The lawn mower
was later reported stolen by his brother
and mother. Defendant also sold his car.
Between the time of his father’s death and
the time he was arrested, defendant cashed
checks from his mother totalling nearly
$5,000. ‘

Defendant claims there is no direct link
between his alleged purchase of cocaine
shortly after his father’s death and his
alleged motive for murdering him a week
earlier. Defendant testified that he never
had a drug problem until after his father
died. A few weeks after his father’s
death, he admitted himself into a drug re-

habilitation center.

Defendant points out three inconsisten-
cies in the murder-for-drug-money theory:

(1) no one knew how much, if any, money
was in the safe; (2) there was no explana-
tion for the $240 left in the cash register;
and (3) no evidence that he knew how to
open the safe. Defendant sees the alleged
purchase of cocaine as separate and dis-
tinct from the charge of murder. Further-
more, defendant claims that evidence of his
possession of a large sum of cash could
have been accomplished without mention-
ing that the money was used to purchase
cocaine.

The State’s theory of defendant’s motive
is comprised of two elements. First, he
needed money to satisfy his cocaine habit.
Since he had worked part-time in the fami-
ly-owned tavern before, he would know
that a large sum of money would be on
hand at the close of business late Friday
night. Second, the State sought to estab-
lish that defendant had a much closer rela-
tionship with his mother and would be able
to get money from her to satisfy his co-
caine habit much more easily if his father
was out of the way. The significance of
the evidence showing that he received large
amounts of money from his mother and
sold several items after the homicide is
unclear, the State argues, without the drug
sale and drug use providing the necessary
attitude of desperation required to kill his
own father. :

[7-9] Evidencaof other crimes is admis-
gible if it is relevant for any purpose other
than to show the defendant’s propensity to
ecommit a criminal offense. (People v
McKibbins (1983), 96 11.2d 176, 182, 70
Nl.Dec. 474, 477, 449 N.E2d 821, 824)
Generally, while any evidence which tends
to show that an accused had a motive for
committing murder is relevant, to be com-
petent, it must, at least to a slight degree,
tend to establish the existence of the mo-
tive relied on. (People v.-Stewart (1984),
105 M1.2d 22, 56, 85 Il.Dec. 241, 258, 473
N.E.2d 840, 857.)

“The admissibility of evidence at trial is
a matter within the sound discretion of
the trial court, and that eourt’s decision
may not be overturned on appeal absent
a clear abuse of discretion. [Citations.]
Such an abuse of discretion will be found

NI
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only where the trial court's decision is
‘ “arbitrary, fanciful or unreasonable”’
or ‘“where no reasonable man would
take the view adopted by the trial
court.”'"” (People v. Illgen (1991), 145
I11.2d 353, 364, 164 Ill.Dec. 599, 603, 583
N.E.2d 515, 519, quoting People v. M.D.
(1984), 101 IL.2d 73, 90, 77 Il.Dec. 744,
752, 461 N.E.2d 367, 375, quoting Peek v.
United States (9th Cir.1963), 321 F.2d
934, 942.)

Evidence of a defendant’s uncharged mis-
conduct undermines. the presumption of in-
nocence, (People v. Hendricks (1990), 137
n.2d 31, 52, 148 Ill.Dec. 213, 222, 560
N.E.2d 611, 620.) But motive, although not
an element of murder, may be a material
factor in establishing guilt, particularly
when the only evidence is circumstantial.
In some circumstances “it is possible for
the State to offer evidence tending to es-
tablish a defendant’s motivation even
though it involves the potential of disclos-
ing a defendant’s prior immoral or improp-
er conduct.” (Hendricks, 137 11124 at 53,
148 Ill.Dec. at 223, 560 N.E.2d at 621.) We
find no abuse of discretion in the admission
of William Elliott's testimony.

{10] Next, defendant claims the court
committed reversible error in excluding the
testimony of Robert McElvaney and Detec-
tive Richard Davis which tended to show
that another person committed the offense
with which defendant was charged and of
which he was convicted. Following the
State’s objection, defendant was allowed to
make an offer of proof to determine wheth-
er the jury would be allowed to hear the
testimony of McElvaney and Davis. The
following facts were elicited.

The night before Bill Whalen’s murder, ‘

Robert McElvaney was at the Twenty
Grand Tap drinking Pabst Blue Ribbon
beer. As a result of a confrontation be-
tween McElvaney and two other custom-
ers, the decedent asked McElvaney to leave
the tavern. McElvaney was a friend of the
victim, and he left without argument. No
evidence was presented that any force was
used to eject him from the tavern. This
was not the first time he had been asked to
leave and, when asked if he was upset with
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the decedent, he replied that he was:
Before leaving, he told Bill Whalen that
would see him again the next day. ;

Upon learning of McElvaney's ejéeti
from the tavern the night before, two’j
tectives went to McElvaney’s residence at
a.m. on the day of the murder. McElvadi
was fully dressed, except for being Ba}
foot, and the detectives found this unug
based on their prior contacts with ¥ s
After telling McElvaney there had bedi
disturbance at the Twenty Grand Ty
McElvaney stated that, “I wouldn’t hiy
Bill Whalen. Bill Whalen is my bud}
What did I do?” Defendant stresses ..
fact that at the time the statement '
made, no news-reports had been re
concerning Whalen’s murder. Also hdfz
is the fact that a number of empty be
cans were found at the crime scene,
one of them was a Pabst Blue Ribbon ¢f
The trizl court barred the evidentuty
grounds that there was no evidence of"
mosity between McElvaney and the
ceased. Defendant contends that
stitutional right to present thnesses
defense has been violated.

[11-13] A defendant may prov
fact or circumstance tending to show
the crime was committed by a perso
than himself, but that right is not Wil
limitations. {People ». Nitti (1924), 8
73, 90, 143 N.E. 448, 454; People v E
(1990), 139 I11.2d 264, 281, 151 Hl.De”e’.

at 281, 151 IlLDec. at 499, 564 N.E94]
1161; People v. Howard (1991), 1471}

108, 143, 167 IlLDec. 914, 930, 588 N.E
1044, 1060.) The trial judge has &
scope of discretion in ruling on iss
relevancy and materiality and its
should not be reversed absent a clear show
ing of abuse of that discretion. Enis,.
H1.2d at 281, 151 IlL.Dee. at 499, 564 N
at 1161; People v. King (1978), 6
App.3d 49, 55, 18 IllDec. 371, 375
N.E.2d 856, 860,

;4"1.
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The State argues persuasively that McEl-
vaney's testimony would provide nothing
more than a possible motive for committing
the murder. People v. Columbo (1983),
118 IL.App.3d 882, 74 IllDec. 304, 455
N.E.2d 733, is cited for the principle that
evidence of possible motive, without more,
;s insufficient to require admission of the
evidence.

In Columbo. defendant subpoenaed two
pusiness acquaintances of the victim in an
effort to show that they harbored animosi-
ty toward him and, therefore, had motive
to murder him. Both witnesses were ques-
tioned outside the presence of the jury, and
both indicated that, if called to testify, they
would invoke their privileges under the
fifth amendment. Defense counsel re-
quested the court’s permission to ask the
questions before a jury anyway, but the
court refused. On appeal, the trial court’s
refusal to allow testimony regarding the
witnesses’ relationships™ with ‘the decedent
was upheld. The evidence was found to be
purely speculative and lacking the requisite
gpecificity required by law so as to ensure
that extraneous and irrelevant matters are
excluded from the jury.

In support, the Columbo decision cited
People v. Dukett {1974), 56 1l1.2d 432, 308
N.E.2d 590, where the trial court refused
to allow testimony of a witness who had
threatened the murder victim. The wit-
ness, James Basford, testified outside the
presence of the jury that several months
prior to the murder he had fired a blank
cartridge in the direction of the vietim,
burning his jacket. Three months before
the murder, he told the victim that he
should have his “block knocked off.”
(Dukett, 56 I1.2d at 448, 308 N.E.2d at
599.) When someone asked him whether
he committed the murder, he told the per-
son that he did not know if he did or not.
This was later explained as a smart re-
mark. The chief of police also testified
outside the presence of the jury that Bas-
ford had inquired about developments in
the case on three or four occasions, asking
whether he had been cleared of suspicion.

The supreme court found the evidence
was properly excluded, as it merely showed

that Basford disliked the victim and was
concerned that he would be accused of the
crime. As such, evidence of this possible
motive, without more, was held to be en-
tirely speculative.

In Howard, defendant was denied the
opportunity to question the sole eyewitness
to a murder on the question of whether she
was involved in a romantic relationship
with the vietim. According to statements
of counsel at the hearing on the State’s
motion in limine, both the witness and the
victim -were married at the time of the
murder. Defense counsel represented that
the police had initially investigated the case
as a family-related homicide and had ques-
tioned the witness’ husband and given him
a lie detector test. Defendant asserted
that evidence that the witness was romanti-
cally involved with the victim suggested
that the witness’ husband, or the victim’s
wife, had motive to commit the murder.
Additionally, the love affair provided mo-
tive for the witness to misidentify the actu-
al offender. .

The supreme court found no error in the
trial court’s exclusion of evidence on the
subject of her marriage and the nature of
her relationship with the decedent. Evi-
dence of a possible motive, without evi-
dence linking either spouse to the murder,
was held to be groundless and based upon
speculation.

In the present case, the only evidence
linking McElvaney to the crime scene is the
fact that one of a number of empty beer
cang found at the scene was the same
brand that McElvaney drinks. No evidence
was presented that McElvaney had ever
touched this can, nor is there any evidence
of animosity between McElvaney and the
deceased. To the contrary, all evidence
points to a conclusion that their relation-
ship was amicable. Finally, we are left
with McElvaney’s outburst to detectives
that he would not hurt Bill Whalen, at a
time when he had no reason to know of any
injury to the deceased. This evidence is far
too uncertain to form the basis for finding
that the trial judge abused his discretion in
excluding McElvaney’s testimony.

Affirmed.

AL
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GREEN, J., concurs, o

KNECHT, J., concurs in part and
dissents in part.

Justice KNECHT, concurring in part and
dissenting in part:

I agree with the majority opinion it was
not an abuse of discretion to admit evi-
dence of defendant’s purchase and use of
cocaine. This evidence arguably supported
the State’s murder-for-drug-money theory,
and the trial judge appropriately exercised
his discretion.

Defendant should have the same latitude
in presenting evidence to support his theo-
ry of the case. Evidence that someone
other than the defendant may have commit-
ted the offense is relevant and admissible

when a close connection is demonstrated -

between the third persen and the commis-
sion of the offense. (People v. Maberry

(1990), 193 ILApp.3d 250, 263, 140 Il.Dec.

323, 331, 549 N.E.2d 974, 982; King, 61
MLApp.3d at 52, 18 Ml.Dec. at 374, 377
N.E.2d at 859.) It is properly excluded if it
is remote or speculative. (Howard, 147
IlL.2d at 143, 167 I.Dec. at 930, 588 N.E.2d
at 1060; People v. Ward (1984), 101 I.2d
443, 455, 79 Ill.Dec. 142, 148, 463 N.E.2d
696, 702.) Defendant should have been
permitted to introduce evidence which al-
legedly linked a third person to the victim's
murder.

His offer of proof shows a patron of the
Twenty Grand Tap was ejected from the
tavern just hours before the murder. The
victim asked this patron to leave because of
a confrontation between the patron and
two other customers. While the patron did
-not argue and did not appear upset, he was
ejected.

On the early morning of April 6, just a
few hours after the crime was discovered
and before any information had been re-
leased to the media, two police detectives
sought out the patron at his home. When
advised there had been trouble at the tav-
ern, the patron responded, “I wouldn't hurt
Bill Whalen. Bill Whalen is my buddy.
What did I de?”

Police sought out the patron precisely
because he had a drunken encounter with
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another customer and had been ejeghiy
from the tavern. They found him fyfis
dressed and awake. The detect;yég
thought this was unusual because of w Y
they knew about his habits. The paﬁggé
then responded in a manner which suggek:
ed he knew Bill Whalen had been harmeg;
This evidence tended to show someone: Gtk
er than defendant committed the murdés

fer of proof goes beyond establishifig
possible motive for someone else to murd
Bill Whalen. The majority infers the"
tron was not affronted by the ejectio
cause he had been ejected before, and
was an amicable relationship betweer'#
patron and the victim. This analysis’
nores the fact the patron had been at
scene of the crime just hours before
murder, was ejected from the tavern by
victim, was a regular customer who g
know the closing routine, and respo:

a police visit by denying he would everHi
Bill Whalen at a time when onl
thorities, and the guilty party or a %
would know Bill Whalen had been i
dered. This interpretation of the evidél
which defendant is entitled to sngg
not extraneous’ or irrelevant. ;

oA %
I am confident the State could hafe
sented evidence to undercut this thf -

1;&

d
chance. A

The importance of this error is enhs
by the exclusion of defendant’s expert¥
ness because of late disclosure. The-t
judge carefully considered this issuen
even suggested a continuance as & p
solution. The majority relies on the.
of a continuance as a waiver of the i
The record suggests defendant was offes
the use of Dr. Zelde’s testimony ih !
change for a continuance, but the issue
not whether we understand the court’s
gestion, but whether defendant
the offer and its consequences.

]

NS\
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~The-compulsory process clause of the
sixth amendment of the United States Con-
gtitution ensures a criminal defendant “the
right to the government's asgistance in
compelling the attendance of favorable wit-
nesses at trial and the right to put before a
jury evidence that might influence the de-
termination of guilt.” (Taylor, 484 US. at
408, 108 S.Ct. at 652, 98 L.Ed.2d at 810,
quoting Pennsylvania v. Ritchie (1987),
480 U.S. 39, 56, 107 S.Ct. 989, 1000, 94
L.Ed.2d 40, 56.) The majority rejects de-
fendant’s argument that just as waiver ofa
gixth amendment right to counsel must be
made knowingly, intentionally, and volun-
tarily, waiver of his right to compulsory
process and to present witnesses in his
defense must be made knowingly, inten-
tionally, and voluntarily.

The right of a defendant to present evi-
dence “stands on no lesser footing than the
other Sixth Amendment rights.” (Wash-
ington v. Texas (1967), 388 U.S. 14, 18, 87
g.Ct. 1920, 1923, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019, 1023.) A
constitutional protection can be waived
only if it is made knowingly and intelligent-
ly. People v. Lester (1988), 165 Ill.App.3d
1056, 1058, 116 IlLDec. 912, 914, 519
N.E.2d 1127, 1129; People v. Jackson
(1982), 105 IlLApp.3d 750; 758, 61 Ill.Dec.
57, 63, 433 N.E.2d 1385, 1391.

The record does not show defendant un-
derstood he was being asked to weigh the
right to a prompt trial with the right to
present a witness on his behalf. For an
issue this important the trial court could
and should have explicitly stated to both
defendant and his attorney that defen-
dant's expert would be permitted to testify
only if the case were continued; and if the
defendant did not agree to a continuance,
then the court would not permit his expert
to testify. The preclusion of defendant’s
expert would have been proper had the
court clearly presented the alternatives to
defendant and he then elected to proceed to
trial and reject a continuance. The alterna-
tives were not clearly presented and this
record does not show waiver. If there was
no waiver, then defendant’s arguments on
the preclusion of his expert witness should
be addressed.

The less severe sanction of a continuance
was available but was not properly ex-
plained to defendant. The likely testimony
of the expert would have challenged the
reliability of the bloody palm print compari-
son and was thus material to the outcome
of the case. Since the State intended to
establish defendant’s presence at the scene
by the palm print, a defense expert’s chal-
lenge to the reliability of its palm print
comparison would not necessitate rework-
ing its entire trial strategy. The trial
judge granted the State’s motion to bar the
expert's testimony, but nothing in the rec-
ord suggests the trial cowrt found that
defense counsel wilfully violated the rules
of discovery to gain an advantage. Consid-
ering these factors, as relied on by the
majority citation to Enoch, I believe the
preclusion of the defense expert witness
was too drastic in these circumstances.

1 would reverse and remand for a-new .

trial and accordingly dissent on this issue.

238 Ill.App.3d 958
178 Ml.Dec. 819
SARAH BUSH LINCOLN HEALTH
CENTER, Plaintiff-Appellee,
Y.

Suzanne S. PERKET, Defendant~
Appellant.

No. 4-92-0448.

Appellate Court of Illinois,
Fourth District.

Dee. 17, 1992.
Rehearing Denied Jan. 19, 1993.

Hospital sued its former director of
physical medicine and rehabilitation to en-
force restrictive covenant in employment
contract precluding director from accepting
similar employment with competitor in
same county within one year of termination
of director's employment. The Circuit
Court, Coles County, Paul C. Komada, J.,
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closing argument defendant was lying.
The trial court correctly denied this motion.
The prosecutor’s comments simply were
not improper under the circumstances
presented here.

[4] Defendant also argues on appeal
the court erred in considering good-time
credit in fashioning his sentence. Defen-
dant believes the legislature already con-
sidered the effect of good-time credit in
establishing the range of penalties for all
offenses, and therefore, when the court
took this factor into consideration, defen-
dant contends his actual sentence was, in
effect, doubled, thereby subjecting him to
disparate treatment. Defendant refuses to
acknowledge, however, that the trial court
made no mention of good-time credit until
after pronouncing defendant’'s sentence
and after informing him of his right to
appeal. The court's comments exhibit no

intention to double defendant’s-sentence—— Sfowtt VIABERRY, Defendant—A

but rather appear to be an attempt to ex-
plain the entire process and to lessen the
impact of the sentence imposed on defen-
dant. While the court believed the mini-

" mum sentence was inappropriate in light of

defendant’s shooting a defenseless man
merely because he was unable to open the
cash register, the court also believed the
maximum sentence possible was inappro-
priate because defendant's prior criminal
history involved no violence. The court
therefore chose to sentence defendant to 12
years’ imprisonment. The court simply
considered no improper factor in the fash-
ioning of defendant’s sentence in this in-
stance. The trial court sitting both
through the trial and the sentencing hear-
ing had a far superior opportunity to make
a sound determination as to what defen-
dant’s punishment should be. (See People
v. Perruquet (1977), 68 111.2d 149, 154, 11
1.Dec. 274, 276, 3638 N-E:2d 882, 884; Peo-
ple v. Peter (1976), 43 1. App.3d 1068, 1070,
3 [l1.Dec. 31, 33, 358 N.E.2d 31, 33) It is
not our funetion to serve as a sentencing
court, and absent any abuse of the trial
court’s discretion, we will not alter the
sentence imposed. (Perruquet, 68 111.2d at

153-56, 11 Ill.Dec. at 275-717, 368 N.E.2d at .

883-85.) We see no reason here to disturb
defendant’s sentence. See People v. Meeks
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(1980), 81 IL.2d 524, 537, 44 TIL}
109, 411 N.E2d 9, 15.

For the aforementioned reas
firm the judgment of the circuit &
St. Clair County. ;

Affirmed. K

LEWIS, PJ., and CHAPMAN, }
concur, _,-;'c%:;‘

O

~amE

KEY HUMBER SYSTEM

193 1lL.App.3d 250 |

140 [l.Dec. 323

The PEOPLE of the State of
Plaintiff-Appellee, - yp:

No. 4-88-0652. -

Appellate Court of Ill no
Fourth District. .

Jan. 18, 1990. 9%

it

Defendant was convicted 1;1?
Court, Morgan County, Richa f
J., of aggravated criminal sexy
and home invasion, and he appé
Appellate Court, McCullough,
(1) evidence that victim's former
had been seen in the area on the
the attack was not adm1551ble
he was the perpetrator; (2)
tained finding that dangerous wi
used, so as to sustain conviction'fdg
invasion; and (3) aggravated cn ]
al assault is a general mbent
which a mental state of intent, 1
or recklessness is implied.

Affirmed.

1. Criminal Law &=1036.5, l(_)ﬁg,

Failure to object at trial t0u8
calling for hearsay response an
ask that the answer be stricke

NG\
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record resulted.in_waiver of the issue on

reVieW~
» Criminal Law &=1063(1)

Failure to raise challenge to hearsay
statement in posttrial motion results in a
waiver of the issue on review,

3, Rape &=48(1, 2)

Complaints of rape victims are admissi-
ple as corroborative statements, but the
statements are limited to the fact of the
complaint, and the identity of the assailant
s not admissible under that exception to

the hearsay rule.

4. Criminal Law &=366(4)

Vietim’'s statements to police identify-
ing defendant as her attacker were admis-
sible as excited utterances or spontaneous
declarations where the victim was hysteri-
cal at the time that she made the state-

ments.

5..Criminal Law <=1037.1(1), 1063(5)

Failure to object to closing argument
and to raise the issue in posttrial motion
waived the issue for review.

6. Criminal Law &=1030(1) .

Plain error exists where a substantial
right of the defendant to a fair trial is
affected or the evidence in the case is close-
ly balanced.

7. Criminal Law €°1171.3

Defendant was not prejudiced by one
sentence in prosecutor’s closing argument
to the effect that the victim had told
“them” who it was that had attacked her,
even though the evidence showed that she
had not told the people in question who her
attacker was but had merely told them that
she had been raped.

8. Witnesses ¢=2(1)

Right of compulsory process is not un-
limited, and defendant must comply with
established rules or evidence and procedure
designed to ensure both fairness and relia-
bility in ascertaining guilt or innocence.
.8.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.

9. Criminal Law ¢=338(1), 385
Defendant does not have a right to
offer incompetent or irrelevant evidence.

10. Criminal Law &=359

Evidence that someone other than de-
fendant may have committed the crime is
relevant and admissible only if and when a
close connection can be demonstrated be-
tween the third person and the commission
of the offense.

11. Criminal Law €=359, 1153(1)

Admission of evidence that someone
other than the accused may have commit-
ted the offense is within the sound discre-
tion of the trial court and its ruling should
not be reversed absent a clear showing of
abuse of that discretion.

12. Criminal Law &=339

Evidence that victim's former boy-
friend had been seen in the area where she
was raped on the evening of the rape and
that he had clothes similar to those de-
seribed by the victim was not relevant to

f
)

show that the former boyfriend was the
vietim's attacker where the victim stated
that he was not her attacker, he had never
been a suspect, and his physical description
deferred from the detailed description of
the attacker given by the vietim.

13. Trespass =82 "
In view of testimony of victim that

defendant ordered her into the bedroom-

while holding a knife and ordered her to
remove her clothes at knifepoint and held
the knife on her while ordering her to move
outside after the attack, jury could find
that the weapon was a “dangerous weap-
on,” so that defendant could be convicted
of home invasion. S.H:A. ch. 38, 17112~
11(a), 33A-1.

14. Criminal Law &=847

Any error contained in jury instruc-
tions is waived if-not Gbjection to at trial or
if no alternative instructions are offered.

15. Rape &5

Aggravated criminal sexual assault is
a general intent crime for which a mental
state of intent, knowledge, or recklessness
is implied to satisfy the general intent re-
quirement.
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Daniel D. Yuhas, Deputy Defender, Of—
fice of State Appellate Defender, Spring-
field, Lawrence J. Essig, Asst. Defender,
for defendant-appellant.

Charles Colburn, State’s Atty., Jackson-
ville, Kenneth R. Boyle, Director, State’s
Attys. Appellate Prosecutor, Springfield,
Robert J. Biderman, Deputy Director,
David E. Mannchen, Staff Atty., for plain-
tiff-appellee.

Justice McCULLOUGH delivered the
opinion of the court:

Following a jury trial, defendant Scott
Maberry was found guilty of aggravated
criminal sexual assault and home invasion
and sentenced to concurrent 12-year prison
terms for each offense with three years’
supervisory release. Defendant raises five
issues on appeal: (1) whether the trial
court erred in admitting statements of iden-

tification of the defendant by the victim
and the police as corroborative complaints |

and thereby denied defendant a fair trial;
(2) whether the prosecutor’s repeated mis-
statements of the evidence during closing
argument denied defendant a fair trial; (3)
whether various evidentiary rulings denied
defendant the right to present a defense

‘and thus, violated the compulsory process

clause of the sixth amendment; (4) whether
defendant’s conviction for home invasion
must be vacated because defendant’s knife
was not a “dangerous weapon” as defined
by section 33A-1 of the Criminal Code of
1961 (Il1.Rev.Stat.1987, ch. 38, par. 33A~-1);
and (5) whether the jury instructions for
aggravated criminal sexual assault were de-
ficient because no mental state was included
in the instructions. We affirm.

On February 9, 1987, the defendant was
charged by indictment with two counts of
aggravated criminal sexual assault (I1LRev.
Stat.1987, ch. 38, par. 12-14(a)(1)) and one
count of home invasion (I1.Rev.Stat.1987,
ch. 38, par. 12-11). The defendant pleaded
not guilty, and a jury trial commenced on
June 15, 1988

1. REVIEW OF EVIDENCE
A. State’s Case

The victim testified that on July 31, 1986,
she stayed overnight at the home of a

—friend in Jacksonville, Illinois. At appt

mately 11:30 p.m. on July 31, the fr
noticed the victim’s ex-boyfriend,
Leonard, driving past the home on n
than one occasion. The friend told
victim and both decided to call the S¢
Jacksonville Police Department and
quest extra patrols because the victim
afraid of Leonard. Although Leonard
never actually observed near the home
night by the victim and he was not s
again by the friend, the victim testified
and her friend decided not to sleep a
that evening “in case Bob decides that 1
going to come back and do somethi
They then moved their belongings from
bedrooms into the living room and prep:
to sleep on the living room floor.

According to the victim, at approxima
12:30 a.m. on August 1, 1986, she and
“friend were still awake when the defen
knocked at the. front door. The vietim
gone to school with the defendant for t
to four years and worked with him
local retail store. All three sat and ta
for approximately 30 minutes in the hc
The defendant left the residence at a
1:08 a.m. after being asked to leave ses
times. After defendant left, the victin
called telling her friend that it was a
funny “that defendant lied to them”
“that he was even there in the first pk

(1) Assault and Initial Statemen
Identifinng Defendant as
Alsailant

{a) Vietim )

According to the vietim, at approxim:
4:45 a.m., she was awakened by 2 n
man wearing a white mask. He woke
up by poking her in the right breast w
knife. The mask was circular with
mond-shaped holes for each eye, and ¢
ed the face of the perpetrator comple
She stated the knife was about five t
inches long with a shiny silver blade;
tip looked as if it had been bro..en off.
described the perpetrator as having b:
hair, standing five feet five inches tall,
“kind of 2 husky build”; that she ¢
five feet two inches in height, and
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rpetrator was “a little taller than [ am.”

The victim stated she grabbed the perpetra-

tor’s arms and asked who he was and what

nhe wanted. The perpetrator told her to be

quiet and directed her into the bedroom

with the knife, then ordered her to take off

ner clothes. After removing her clothes,

the perpetrator engaged in vaginal and oral

sex with the victim. The attack lasted

about five minutes, during which time the

etrator held the knife or had it nearby

on the bed. The perpetrator then unsuc-

cessfully attempted to use a towel to gag

the victim. He then ordered her to leave

the bedroom through the hallway and to

walk into the kitchen. She stated the

perpetrator picked up some keys or coins

that were on an ironing board in the kitch-

en and led her out onto the back porch,

where he stopped briefly, apparently look-

ing for something on top of the refriger-

~ator. There was nothing on the ironing

board when she went to bed. The perpe-

trator had brown straight hair that was
“choppy looking, like it was uneven.”

The vietim and the perpetrator went out-
side, where he ordered her to lay face down
in the grass. He then threw the knife in
the ground next to her leg. As she lay
face down in the grass, the perpetrator
began putting on some clothes he retrieved
as they exited the house. Her assailant
withdrew the knife from the ground, or-
dered her to get into the car parked in the
front driveway, and to wait 15 minutes
until he was gone. She watched the perpe-
trator leaving the yard until she could not
see him anymore, went back inside the
house, locked the back door, and woke up
her friend “after a few minutes of beating
on her.” She identified the clothes the
perpetrator wore as: “blue jeans, tennis
shoes, and a shirt that kind of had three-
quarter sleeves that had stripes on the
sleeve, was darker on the top and light in
the stomach area.”

She testified she had only a sheet
wrapped around her when she tried to
wake up her friend. She called her boy-
friend, while she was trying to wake her
friend, because she did not know what to
do. While the victim was talking to her
boyfriend about the attack, there was a

knock at the front door. The boyfriend
told the victim he would call the police.
The police arrived at the residence within
three minutes of the victim's telephone call
with her boyfriend.

South Jacksonville police officers Mark
Aydelott and Theresa Daniels responded to
the call. The victim told Officer Daniels
that she had been attacked and she was
99.9% certain it was the defendant who
attacked her. She was certain the defen-
dant was her attacker because of his voice,
hair, and build; she became 100% certain
about one month after the attack when she
saw the defendant walking at school. She
identified the defendant by his gait which,
the victim stated, was the same one she
had seen at the time of the attack.

(b) Friend’s Testimony

The friend testified the victim was stay-
ing at her house the evening of July 31 to
August 1 because she, the friend, did not
want to be alone in the house. She and the
victim talked for a while before preparing
to go to sleep. The victim ironed a shirt on
the ironing board in the kitchen while they
were talking.

She saw Bob Leonard drive by the house
on July 81, 1986, and she and ¢he victim
decided to call the police. The defendant
was a friend of the victim and, when he
arrived at the house at 12:30 a.m. on Au-
gust 1, she let him in the house to talk for
a while. The defendant had twe quarts of
beer with him when he arrived. She fur-
ther testified that after the defendant left
the house early on the morning of August
1, 1986, she checked the doors and windows
to be certain they were locked. She. re-
called telling the vietim how she thought it
was strange the defendant came to her
house that night because he had never
been there before and she did not think the
defendant knew where she lived. She also
stated there was nothing on the ironing
board when she checked the doors.

The friend testified she was awakened at
about 5 a.m. on August 1 by the victim
standing above her, kicking her, and
screaming that she had been raped. She
stated the victim had a blanket wrapped
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around her and was very hysterical; the
vietim told her she was 99.9% sure the
defendant was her attacker because of his
build, the way his hair was cut, his height,
and the way he talked in a low, rough
whisper. The victim said her attacker was
five feet five inches, or five feet six inches
in height.

She testified the defendant was probably
close to five feet six inches tall. In describ-
ing Bob Leonard, she stated Leonard had
dark brown hair and a mustache, was
about six feet tall, slender, and weighed
160 to 170 pounds.

(c) Officer Daniels

Officer Theresa Daniels testified she
went to the friend’s residence at 4:53 a.m.
on August 1, 1986, and met the victim, who
was very hysterical. After the vietim
calmed down enough to speak, Officer Dan-
iels testified the vietim told her she had

been raped by the defendant.

(2) Police Activity at the Scene and
Evidence Discovered

Officer Aydelott testified he arrived at
the scene at approximately 5:15 a.m. He
observed the screen above the sink in the
kitchen was ripped, and discovered a base-
ment window broken and ajar. Subse-
quently, he and additional officers found
the defendant asleep in a car parked in the
driveway of the home. When discovered,
the defendant’s clothing was disorderly;
the inseam of the pants was off to one side;
his shirt was not tucked in; and his hair
was disarranged. The defendant was tak-
en to the Jacksonville Police Department,
where Officer Aydelott took custody of the
defendant's tennis shoes, Wrangler blue
jeans, and gray and black shirt with red
stripes. The clothing was soiled and wet
with perspiration. The defendant did not
have any underwear or socks on at the
police station. Fifteen or twenty minutes
had elapsed between the time Officer Ayde-
lott arrived at the residence and searched
the house and the time the defendant was
discovered in the car. No mask was found
by the police. Defendant told police he had
been visiting the house earlier in the eve-
ning, but denied any involvement in the
attack. After giving a statement to the
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police, the defendant was released witho
charge. Defendant was later arrested .
February 9, 1987.

According to Officer Aydelott, during
pat-down search of the defendant at t
scene, they discovered a penknife and
box-cutter in the pocket of defendan
pants. The penknife had a two-inch blac
The owner of the house testified that pri
o August 1, 1986, she had a utility knife
box opener on the ledge of the windc
above the kitchen sink. This window w
the same window which had the screen to.
on August 1. The utility knife was disco
ered missing in September 1986. The ow
er identified the utility knife taken fro
the defendant at the time of his arrest :
the type of utility knife missing from h
kitchen.

Larry Hood, a crime scene technici:
with the Illinois State Police, testified tl
basement window of the residence hs
been broken from the outside. The dust «
top of the deep freeze beneath this windo
was disturbed and two unsmoked Marlbo:
cigarettes were on the floor near the de¢
freeze. The friend testified the defenda
was smoking Marlboro cigarettes when 1
visited the house at 12:30 a.m. on the nigl
of the attack.

Hood further testified the screen on t}
back door had been cut in the area by ti
door handle. A pair of white jockey short
size 3436, was found behind a refrigeraﬁ
located immediately to the right of t}
back door. A pair of men’s socks wi
found on the ironing board in the kitche

Hood 'testified the pocket knife take
from the defendant had two blades. Tt
end of the larger blade had been sharpene
and had been “peened,” or hit with a ba
peen hammer, to enlarge the blade so th:
it would fit tighterin the pocket. The’ &
of the knife was different from the rest(
the blade. David Metzger, a forensic sciel
tist with the [llinois State Police, later test
fied that the tip of the defendant’s km!
appeared to be damaged.

(3) Forensic Evidence

A forensic examination was done on th
victim’s underwear, the bed clothing in
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bedroom, the socks found on the ironing
poard, and on the men’s underwear found
behind the refrigerator on the back perch.
Examination of the pubic hair found in the
men’'s underwear revealed it was Cauca-
sian, but did not originate from the defen-
dant or the victim. The head hair found in
this underwear matched the defendant’s
hair in 16 out of 18 characteristics.

Phillip Sallee, the forensic serologist with
the Illinois State Police who tested the
hairs on the underwear, also tested four
fibers on the socks and the bedclothes in
the bedroom. Sallee found the same fiber,
yellow cotton polyester thread, on the
socks and on the sheet from the bedroom.
Sallee also tested a head hair found on the
socks and concluded it did not come from
the defendant or the vietim.

Blood-typing was conducted by Sallee on

blood type in the semen stains was the

same as the defendant’s.

Sallee also tested several hairs recovered
with the Vitullo Kit which were sealed in
four envelopes and labeled: “Head hair
combings, pulled head hair, pubic hair
combings, pulled pubic hair.” Acecording to
Sallee, there were two additional hairs
found loose in the kit. Sallee determined
that none of the hairs found in the kit could
have come from the defendant.

B. Defendant’s Case

(1) Offers of Proof Outside the Jury re:
Robert Leonard

Police chief Richard Evans, of the Jack-
sonville Police Department, testified Leon-
ard was arrested on August 1, 1986, on a
burglary warrant. The warrant was issued
after the police received a telephone call
from the victim and her friend on July 31.

seminal material recovered fromi two cervi-

cal swabs used in the standard Vitullo Kit,

and the seminal material on the panties
recovered from the victim. According to
Sallee, the seminal material from the swabs
evidenced the following blood-type: ABO
type A and H/PGM 2-1. The blood type of
the defendant was determined as follows:
ABO type A/PGM 1. The victim's blood
type was determined to be ABO type
0/PGM 2-1. Sallee explained that the
PGM system is a separate blood-grouping
system. The PGM is tested separately and
under separate conditions. Sallee testified
that the PGM is based upon enzymes found
in all human beings. Sallee found the sem-
inal stain on the panties to have type A and
H activity present. Sallee was unable to

get any PGM results from the vietim's .

panties.

Sallee testified the defendant was a se-
cretor whose blood.type is present in his
body fluids. “The semen stains on the vic-
tim’s panties and the seminal materials
found on the vaginal swabs taken from the
victim were consistent with the defendant’s
blood type and could have come from the
defendant. Sallee also testified that ap-
proximately 32% of the male population in
Jacksonville have the same blood type as
the defendant. Sallee further testified that
there was no question in his mind that the

At that time, the victim reported Leonard
had stolen property from a local depart-
ment store and was seen driving in the
vicinity of the house where she was stay-
ing. According to Evans, the victim asked
for extra police patrols after reporting the
burglary. Some of the property allegedly
stolen in the burglary was found ip Leon-
ard’s car at the time of his arrest. A knife
with a total length of 9% inches was also
found in the trunk of Leonard’s car, along
with Levi blue jeans and a cloth belt with
gold buckle. This knife did not match the
vietim’s description of the knife used by
her assailant, since Leonard’s knife was
bigger and the end of the knife was not
damaged.

Chief Evans testified that Leonard did
not match the victim's description of the
assailant since Leonard was 5 feet 9 inches
or 5 feet 10 inches tall, weighed 140
pounds, and was very thin, the exact oppo-
site of the assailant. Chief Evans testified
Leonard was not a suspect in this case and
that the police investigation could not place
him anywhere near the scene of the rape.
Chief Evans testified that he may have told
Leonard’s attorney, Ed Parkinson, that
Leonard’s clothing was being held for test-
ing in this case. Evans stated it was police
department policy not to release evidence
without a court order and no court order
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had been“issued regarding Leonard’s cloth-
ing.

In his offer-of-proof testimony, attorney
Ed Parkinson testified that he had repre-
sented Leonard from August 1986 to Feb-
ruary 1987, Mr. Parkinson and Leonard'’s
mother had made numerous requests to
retrieve Leonard’s personal items and
clothing from the police. Mr. Parkinson
stated he was told the clothing was being
held for possible testing in this case. Par-
kinson testified that it was his under-
standing that two knives were found in
Leonard’s car and both may have been kept
by the police. Parkinson stated that, ac-
cording to Leonard, he had two knives
when he was arrested. Leonard did not
tell his attorney how long the blades on
these knives were.

. (2)_ Alibi Evidence

Officer Brad McElfresh testified regard-
ing the alibi defendant gave to the police on
August 2, 1986, regarding his activities on
the evening of July 31 to August 1, 1986.

McElfresh stated defendant said -that at 3

about 12:30 a.m. on August 1, after he left
the friend’s house, he went to another
friend’s house and, from there, walked to a
nearby park known as Nicholas Park. In-
side the park, the defendant saw a number
of cars and people on the east side parked
off the roadway. The defendant described
one of the cars as a white, older model
Cutlass that had two blue stripes and an
“applied for” license sticker. The defen-
dant said--that he had talked with this
group of people and then walked into a
cornfield with one of the girls from this
group and had sexual intercourse with her.
According to the defendant, he was in the
park sometime between 1 a.m. and 5 a.m.
on August 1, 1986. After he left the park,
defendant told police he walked back to the
residence where the victim was staying,
saw a light on inside and knocked at the
door. After receiving no response, the de-
fendant stated he climbed into the car in
the driveway and fell asleep. Officer
McElfresh testified his investigation found
defendant’s statement to be false. McEL
fresh testified that Nicholas Park closes at

A
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midnight and that the gates to the park a)
locked at that time.

In rebuttal, Officer Aydelott testified t
closed Nicholas Park and locked all t}
gates at 11:58 p.m. on July 31, 1986. The)
was no one left in the park after he locke
the gates. Officer Aydelott patrolled tt
park every 30 to 45 minutes on August
He did not see any cars or people on th
east side of the park that night after it ws
closed. Officer Aydelott testified that car
cannot drive into the park after the gate
are locked.

The State presented the testimony ¢
several persons who were in Nicholas Par
on the night of July 31, including the owne
of the Cutlass described by the defendan
While all stated they did not know th
defendant, they testified they were all t
gether in a group in the park and did nc
recall any strangers walking up to thei
group. Several of these persons, includin,
the owner of the Cutlass, also testified the
left the park before it closed at midnight o
July 31 because it is difficult to exit ths
park with a car after the park gates an
locked.

(3) Other Defense Evidence

The defendant introduced the Oestlmom
of Joye Sweetin to refute the victim's lde);
tification of the defendant. Sweetin- testi
fied she talked with the victim a few dayi
after the attack and the victim told Sweétig
she was raped in Springfield but did m)l
know her -attacker, «

On cross-examination, Sweetin admittec
she was a close friend of the defendant an(
did not talk to the police regarding he)
conversation with the victim. When calle¢
in rebuttal by the State, the victim stated
she told Sweetin the defendant raped her.

_H="ANALYSIS s

Initially, defendant argues the identificd:
tion statements the victim gave to the po'
lice when they first arrived at the house
were improperly admitted under the
“prompt” or corroborative complaint excep-
tion to the hearsay rule. Defendant alsq
contends these statements do not qualify
as spontaneous declarations, which are ad-
missible as exceptions to the hearsay rulq,
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" The defendant maintains the admission of
these statements denied him a fair trial
pecause the State repeatedly referred to
(hese statements and actually misstated
this evidence during closing argument.

As to the victim's statements to her
friend and ‘Officer Daniels on August 1, the
State urges the defendant has waived this
issue because no objection to the testimony
of the victim, her friend, or Officer Daniels
was raised at trial or in a post-trial motion.
On the merits, the State agrees the state-
ments of identification are not admissible
ander the corroborative complaint excep-
tion. However, the State maintains these
statements are admissible as spontaneous
declarations. Even if not so admissible,
any error, according to the State, was
harmless.

[1,2] The record reveals the defendant -

did not object to the identification state-
ments of victim at issue on appeal. Failure
to object at trial to a question calling for a
hearsay response and failure to ask that
the answer be stricken from the record
results in waiver of the issue on review.
(People v. Stewart {1984), 105 111.2d 22, 56,
85 Ill.Dec. 241, 258, 473 N.E.2d 840, 857.)
Likewise, failure to raise the issue in a
post-trial motion results in waiver of the
issue on review. (People v. Enock (1988),
122 1l.2d 176, 186, 119 Ill.Dec. 265, 270,
522 N.E.2d 1124, 1129.) We find this issue
is waived.

(31 On the merits, complaints of rape
victims are admissible as corroborative
statements, but the statements are limited
to the fact of the complaint. (People v.
Damen (1963), 28 Il.2d 464, 473, 193
N.E.2d 25, 30-31.) The identity of the as-
sailant is not admissible under this excep-
tion. (People v. Robinson (1978), 73 I.2d
192, 199-200, 22 Ill.Dec. 688, 692, 383
N.E.2d 164, 168.) It is clear the statements
regarding the identity of the defendant in
this case were not admissible under this
exception.

{41 However, the statements qualify as
excited utterances or spontaneous declara-
tions and, thus, were admissible. The evi-
dence established that the victim reentered

the house after her assailant was out of
view, tried to wake her friend, and called
her boyfriend. The boyfriend testified the
victim was hysterical on the phone. Her
friend testified that before the police ar-
rived and while the vietim was hysterical,
shaking, and erying, she said her attacker
was the defendant and she was 99.9% sure.
Officer Daniels testified the vietim was
hysterical when she arrived a few minutes
later. In view of the victim’s extreme emo-
tional upset at the time the statements
were given to her friend and Officer Dan-
jels, the possibility of fabrication is non-
existent. People v. Poland (1961), 22 1L.2d
175, 174 N.E.2d 804.

{5] With respect to defendant’s asser-
tion of the prosecutor's misstatement of
evidence during closing argument, the
record also demonstrates that no objection
to the remarks was raised at trial nor was
this issue raised in the post-trial motion.
Therefore, the waiver doctrine is also appli-
cable to these statements (People v. Hall
(1986), 114 111.2d 376, 418, 102 Il.Dec. 322,
340, 499 N.E.2d 1335,.1353), unless plain
error was committed. '

{6] Plain error exists where a substan-
tial right of the defendant to a faj trial is
affected or the evidence in the case is close-
ly balanced. People v. Bradley (1988), 172
Il1.App.3d 545, 549, 122 Ill.Dec. 523, 526,
526 N.E.2d 916, 919; People v. Sexton
(1987), 162 I1.App.3d 607, 615, 114 [ll.Dec.
88, 94, 515 N.E.2d 1359, 1365.

The misstatement of the evidence about

"which the defendant complains is that

where the prosecutor stated: “She told
them who it was and that's very impor-
tant.” (Emphasis added.) The defendant
urges “them” refers to the doctor who
examined the victim in the hospital and the

boyfriend as well as the police officer and -

her friend. This is a misstatement of the
evidence. The boyfriend and the exam-
ining physician were not told by the victim
of the identity of her assailant, only that
she was raped. However, later on during
closing, the prosecutor referred to the fact
that the victim told only her friend and
Officer Daniels that she was 99.9% sure it
was the defendant who raped her.

(Ao
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[7] We conclude the prejudicial impact
of this portion of one sentence during clos-
ing argument is negligible in this case.
There were no repeated instances of mis-
conduct in this case as in People v. Whit-
low (1982), 89 Ill.2d 322, 60 [ll.Dec. 587, 433
N.E.2d 629. Nor is this a close case on the
evidence or one involving remarks in clos-
ing which were severely prejudicial to the
defendant as in People v Eddington
(1984), 129 Ill.App.3d 745, 84 Ill.Dec. 887,
473 N.E.2d 103. Defendant relies on Brad-
ley and Sexton in support of his plain error
argument. Both cases are also sufficiently
distinct from this case as to not be per-
suasive authority.

We conelude no plain error was commit-
ted in this case. Thus, we find any error
during closing argument was waived. The
evidence establishing defendant’s guilt is
not closely balanced, but is overwhelming.
The victim testified she was 99.9% sure her
assailant was the defendant based on his
voice, hair, build, and gait. The vietim had
known the defendant for four years prior
to the incident, having sat next to him in
school and worked with him in a local retail
store. The identification was corroborated
by clothing found in the house, the forensic
tests on the clothes, the knife found in
defendant’s possession and defendant’s al-
ibi later proved to be false.

Defendant next urges he was denied the
right to present criminal defense evidence
to the jury in violation of the compulsory
process clause of the sixth amendment.
(U.S. Const., amend. V1) Defendant spe-

cifically refers to the evidence presented in .

two offers of proof regarding the clothing
and weapons taken from Leonard when he
was arrested on August 1, 1986, on an
unrelated warrant. Leonard’s clothing was
similar in some respects to the clothing the
victim described her assailant as wearing.
The knife taken from Leonard was 9%
inches in total length and “shiny silver.”
The offers of proof were denied.

Initially, the State urges the defendant
did not raise this precise issue at trial or in
his post-trial motion and, thus, the issue
was waived. On the merits, the State
urges the trial court properly exercised its
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discretion in excluding the evidence as
speculative and remote.

The record reflects defendant strenuc
ly argued for the admission of his offers
proof on Leonard. However, the compu
ry process clause was not raised at tria.
in a post-trial motion. It is generally b
that constitutional issues raised for
first time on appeal are waived unless t.
pertain to the jurisdiction of the co
People v. Amerman (1971), 50 [ll.2d ]
219 N.E2d 353; People v. McGeo
{1987), 156 Ill.App.3d 860, 110 Ill.Dec
510 N.E.2d 1032.

[8.9] The compulsory process clause
the sixth amendment of the United Stz
Constitution affords a criminal defend
“the right to the government's assista
in compelling the attendance of favor:
witnesses at trial and the right to put
fore a jury evidence that might influe
the determination of guilt.” (Taylor v. .
nots (1988), 484 U.S. 400, 408, 108 S
646, 652, 98 L.Ed.2d 798, 810, quot
Pennsylvania v. Ritchie (1987), 480 1
39, 56, 107 S.Ct. 989, 1001, 94 L.Ed.2d
56.) This right is not unlimited and a
fendant must comply with established n
of evidence and procedure designed to
sure both fairness and reliability in as
taining guilt or innocence. (Chamber.
Mississippi (1973), 410 U.S. 284, 302,
S.Ct. 1038, 1049, 35 L.Ed.2d 297, 313~
A defendant does ot have the right
offer incompetent or irrelevant evide:
Taylor, 484 U.S. at 411, 108 S.Ct. at 653
L.Ed.2d at 811-12. .

{10,11] The evidence excluded in
case was offered to establish that Rol
Leonard, somecne other than defend
may have committed the crime. Such
dence is relevant and admissible only if
when a close connection can be demoust
ed between the third person and the ¢
mission of the offense. (People v. K
(1978), 61 IlLApp.3d 49, 52, 18 [lL.Dec. !
374, 377 N.E.2d 856, 859.) The admis:
of evidence that someone other than
accused may have committed the offens
within the sound discretion of the 1t
court and its ruling should not be revex
absent a clear showing of abuse of -

NI



discretion.  People v. Ward (1984), 101
111.2d 443, 155-56, 79 Il.Dec. 142, 148, 463
N.E.2d 696, 702,

[12] We find no abuse of discretion.
We disagree with defendant's contention
that the Leonard evidence was relevant.
Defendant points to the fact that Leonard
was seen in the area on the evening on July
31; that he had clothes similar to those
described by the vietim; that he resembled
the physical description given by the vie-
tim; and he may have had a motive to
harm the victim (because she turned him in
to the police for burglary). This evidence
fails to establish any link between Leonard
and the attack which occurred in the early
morning on August 1. (People v. Smith
(1984), 122 11LApp.3d 609, 77 Ill.Dec. 911,
161 N.E.2d 534; People v. King (1978), 61
[.App.3d 49, 18 Ill.Dec. 371, 377 N.E.2d
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856.) Moreover, the victim stated Leonard
was not her attacker; she never thought he
was; the police stated Leonard was never a
suspect in this case; and they could net
place Leonard at the scene at the time of
the attack. (People v. Thomas (1986), 145
IN.App.3d 1, 99 Ill.Dec. 192, 495 N.E.2d
639.) Further, Leonard’s physical descrip-
tion differs from the detailed description
given by the victim of her attacker whom
she described in terms of his voice, gait and
husky build.

[13] Defendant next contends his con-
viction of home invasion must be vacated
because he was not armed with a “danger-
ous weapon” as defined in the armed-vio-
lence statute. (IlLRev.Stat.1987, ch. 38,
par. 33A~1) The State urges, initially,
that defendant has waived this issue be-
cause it was not raised at trial. Alterna-
tively, the State contends the length of the
knife blade is irrelevant because case law
and the statutes focus on the manner in
which weapons are used to determine
whether they fit the category of a “danger-
ous weapon.”

Section 12-11(a) of the Criminal Code of
1961 (Code) defines home invasion:

“a} A person who is not a peace offi-
cer acting in the line of duty commits
home invasion when without authority he
or she knowingly enters the dwelling
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place of another when he or she knows
or has reason to know that one or more
persons is present and

(1) While armed with a dangerous
weapon uses force or threatens the immi-
nent use of force upon any person or
persons within such dwelling place
whether or not injury cccurs, or

(2) Intentionally causes any injury to
any person or persons within such dwell-
ing place.” (IlL.Rev.Stat.1987, ch. 38,
par. 12-11(a).)

“Dangerous weapon” is defined in the arm-
ed-violence statute:

“(2) ‘Armed with a dangerous weap-
on’. A person is considered armed with
a dangerous weapon for purposes of this
Article, when he carries on or about his
person or is otherwise armed with a cate-
gory [ or category II weapon. (b) A
category 1 weapon is a pistol, revolver,
rifle, shotgun, spring gun, or any other
firearm, sawed-off shotgun, a stun gun
or taser as defined in paragraph (a) of
Section 24-1 of this Code, knife with a
blade of at least 3 inches in length, dag-
ger, dirk, switchblade knife, stiletto, or
any other deadly or dangerouseweapon
or instrument of like character.” (Il
Rev.Stat.1987, ch. 38, par. 33A-1.)

Defendant points out the knife found on his
person had a less than three-inch blade and,
therefore, it is not a “dangerous weapon”
as defined in section 33A-1(b) of the Code.
Defendant has waived this issue because
it was not raised in the trial court. (En-
och, 122 11.2d 176, 119 Ill.Dec. 265, 522
N.E.2d 1124.) On the merits, defendant’s
argument has been rejected in numerous
cases involving various offenses. (See Peo-
ple v. Carter (1951), 410 Il 462, 102
N.E.2d 312; People v. Hall (1983), 117 Tl
App.3d 788, 73 Ill.Dec. 192, 453 N.E.2d
1327, People v. Samier (1985), 129 1L
App.3d 966, 85 Iil.Dec. 233, 473 N.E.2d
601.) The reasoning of these cases is appli-
cable here. The victim testified the defen-
dant ordered her into the bedroom while
holding a knife, ordered her to remove her
clothes at knifepoint and held the knife on
her while ordering her to move outside
after the attack. The defendant clearly
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had the knife while in the house and held jt
ina threatening manner on the victim.

Defendant next contends the jury was
not properly instructed on aggravated
criminal sexual assault because no menta]
State was inciuded in the instruetions. The
State argues the defendant has waived this
issue for failure to tender any alternative
instructions or object to the instructions at
trial or in a post-trial motion. On the mer-
its, the State maintains aggravated crimj-
nal sexual assault is a general intent crime,
not requiring jury instructions on a menta]
state and this precise argument has been
Previously rejected by the courts.

[14] The record reflects that the defen-
dant did not object to the instructions given
to- the- jury. Any error contained in jury
instructions is waived if not objected to at
trial or where no alternate instructions
were offered. (People v. Avant (1989), 178
M. App.3d 139, 145, 127 Ill.Deec. 312, 318,
332 N.E.2d 1141, 1145 Enoch, 122 11124
176, 119 . Dec. 265, 522 N.E.2d 1124.) We
find defendant waived this issue,

[15] On the merits, aggravated eriminal
sexual assault is a general intent crime, for
which a menta] state of intent, knowledge,
or recklessness is implied to satisfy the
general intent requirement. (People v,
Leonard (1988), 171 L App.3d 380, 385,
122 1. Dec. 138, 140, 526 N.E.2d 397, 399.)
Defendant urges the failure to inelude the
mental state in the instructions allows 3
presumption of a mentaj state to exist,
which presumption runs afoul of the due
process clause becauyse it relieves the State
of its burden to brove each element of ap
offense beyond a reasonable doubt. De.
fendant cites Sandstrom . Montana
(1979), 442 US. 510, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61
L.Ed.2d 39, Francis v, Franklin (1985),
471 US. 307, 105 S.Ct. 1965, 85 L.Ed.2d
344, and Yates o, Aiken (1988), 484 U.S.
211,108 S.Ct. 534, 98 L.Ed.2d 546, in sup-
port.

Initially, we point out these cases are
inapposite to the case before us. In all
three cases, the particular mental state of
the defendants was contested at trial and
essential in the jury’s deliberations as to
the guilt or innocence of the defendant,
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Here, defendant argued at trial and now
does similarly on appeal that he was not
the perpetrator of the rape. Defendant
has never asserted he lacked the requisite
mental state for this offense, but none-
theless argues it must be included in the
jury instructions. We find no merit in de-
fendant’s dye process claim.

The elements of aggravated criminal sex-
ual assault are a crimina) sexual assault
committed when the accused displayed a
dangerous weapon. (Ill.Rev.Stat.lQS?, ch.
38, par. 12-14(a)(1)) A criminal sexual as-
sault includes sexual penetration by use of
force or threat of force, (IH.Rev.Stat.lQS’?,
ch. 38, par, 12-13(a)(1).) The State must
prove all the elements of aggravated crimj-

nal sexual assault-beyord 3 reasonable
doubt, (Ill.Rev.Stat.1987, ch. 38, par. 3-1.)
A mental state is implied in aggravated
criminal sexual assault, Thus, jury in-
structions need not set forth a specific
mental state, Leonard, 171 ILApp.3d at
385, 122 Ill.Dec. at 140, 526 N.E.2d at 399.

For the foregoing reasons, the defen-
dant’s convictions and sentences are af-
firmed.

Affirmed.

KNECHT, PJ., and STEIGMANN, J.,
concur,
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE
) ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF McLEAN )
THE PEOPLE OF THE )
STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) 98 CF 633
VS. ) § ! L E g -
) = =
BARTON MCNEIL ) :é DEC 281998

CIRCUIT CLERK
MOTION IN LIMINE

Now come the People of the State of Illinois by Stephanie M. Wong, Assistant State's
Attorney for the County of McLean and respectfully move this Honorable Court for an Order in
Limine excluding from introduction at trial certain evidence as set forth herein and in support
thereof states as follows:

1. The defendant has asserted that a third person, Misook Nowlin is responsible for the murder of
Christina McNeil.

2. That the State believes defendant will attempt to introduce evidence through direct
examination, cross examination and argument, that Misook Nowlin was involved in, or
commiitted the murder for which defendant is charged.

3. That defendant’s assertions are founded only on speculation and completely unsupported by
any evidence.

4. That any evidence suggesting guilt of another cannot be introduced at trial unless supported by
evidence of a close connection between the third person and the crime for which defendant is

charged. (Memorandum of law attached).
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WHEREFORE, the People respectfully request an Order in Limine excluding any and all

evidence or suggestion that Misook Nowlin was involved in, or committed the murder of Christina

McNeil

Respectfully submitted,

Stephanie M. Wong
Assistant State's Attorney
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STATE OF ILLINOIS
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF MCLEAN

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
ILLINOIS,

PLAINTIFF,

Vs. NO. 98 CF 633

i

BARTON M. MCNEIL,

SOLEA;

DEFENDANT .

CIRGUIT gy
MOTION IN LIMINE ¢

Now comes the Defendant, Barton M. McNeil, by his attorneys,
Assistant Public Defenders, Tracy A. Smith and Kim Campbell, and
moves this Court enter an order prohibiting the State from
introducing or attempting to introduce at trial certain evidence

specified below, and in support of his motion, states as follows:

1. Prior Convictions of Defendant. Defendant has prior
convictions in McLean County Cases #80 CF 128, Delivery of
Controlled Substances, and #95 CM 987, Violation of Order of
Protection. Neither prior conviction is permitted for impeachment

purposes under the holding of People v. Montgomery, 47 Ill 2d 510,

or any other case or statute. The victim in #95 CM 987 is not the
gsame person as the alleged victim in this cause.

2. Evidence of Defendant’s Computer Files. Materials
supplied to the defendant by way of discovery indicate that a
police search of his computer files revealed that pornographic
photographs of adult women had been downloaded into his computer.

Such evidence is irrelevant to the issues at bar in this cause,
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has no probative value as regards such issues, and would be highly
prejudicial to defendant. Such evidence therefore should be

barred. People v. Wilson, 400 Ill 2d 603 (1948).

3. Evidence of Prior Sexual Abuse of Victim. Materials
supplied to defendant by way of discovery, and in particular the
autopsy report on the victim, note possible prior sexual abuse of
the wvictim. Nothing in the autopsy report or in any other
discévery materials indicates when the suspected abuse occurred or
by whom it was perpetrated. The autopsy report clearly indicates
that the evidence of sexual abuse consisted of old, healed tears
and lacerations. Any such evidence is irrelevant to the issues in
the case at bar, has no relevance as regards such issues, and
would be highly prejudicial to defendant. Such evidence therefore

should be barred. People v. Wilson, 400 I1ll 2d 603 (1948).

4. Autopsy Photos. Autopsy photographs supplied to
defendant by way of discovery include many photographs showing
autoptic incisions and dissections to the body of the alleged
victim. Such photographs are inadmissible under the holding of

People v. Lefler, 38 I1l 2d 216, and should be barred.

WHEREFORE, defendant, Barton M. McNeil, prays this Court
enter an order preventing the State from introducing, eliciting,
or attempting to introduce or elicit as evidence at the trial of
this cause any and all evidence of the defendant’s prior criminal
convictions, the pornographic photographs found in his computer
files, the actual or suspected prior sexual abuse of the victim,

and any and all autopsy photographs displaying autoptic incisions
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or dissections or of the body of the victim otherwise made

gruesome by the autopsy procedure.

Respectfully submitted,

Barton M. McNeil, Defendant

By: e
one of his attorneys

PROOF OF SERVICE
The undersigned certifies that a copy of the foregoing
instrument was served upon the attorney of record of all parties

to the above cause by delivering such to their offices on the

_lé_'f:__ day of mﬁm% , 1999.
(D bnatt % /Y

Tracy A. Smith

Kim Campbell

Agsistant Public Defenders
104 W. Front, Room 603
Bloomington, Illinois 61701

Phone: (309) 888-5235 K o
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